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PART |. FINANCI AL | NFORMATI ON
VORNADO REALTY TRUST
CONSOLI DATED BALANCE SHEETS
(AMOUNTS | N THOUSANDS EXCEPT SHARE AMOUNTS)
JUNE 30, DECEMBER 31,
1998 1997
ASSETS:
Real estate, at cost:
Land $ 612, 909 $ 436,274
Bui | di ngs and i nprovenents 2,173,752 1,118, 334
Leasehol d i nprovenents and equi prent 10, 067 9, 485
Tot al 2,796,728 1, 564, 093
Less accumul at ed depreci ation and
anortization (195, 557) (173, 434)
Real estate, net 2,601, 171 1, 390, 659
Cash and cash equival ents, including U S.
government obligations under repurchase
agreenents of $161, 100 and $8, 775 257,584 355, 954
Restricted cash 26, 489 27,079
Mar ket abl e securities 46, 737 34, 469
Investment in and advances to partially-owned
entities, including investments in and
advance to Al exander's of $107, 789
and $108, 752 690, 216 482, 787
Due fromofficers 15, 070 8, 625
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for
doubt ful accounts of $1,690 and $658 23,918 16, 663
Mort gage | oans receivabl e 33, 875 88, 663
Deposits in connection with real estate
acqui sitions 181, 072 47, 275
Recei vabl e arising fromthe straight-
lining of rents 34,072 24,127
OQther assets 73,332 47,788
TOTAL ASSETS $ 3,983,536 $ 2,524,089
JUNE 30, DECEMBER 31,
1998 1997
LI ABI LI TI ES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUI TY:
Not es and nortgages payabl e $ 1,156, 862 $ 586, 654
Revolving credit facility 652, 250 370, 000
Accounts payabl e and accrued expenses 76,702 36, 538
O ficer's deferred conpensati on payabl e 20, 000 25, 000
Deferred | easing fee inconme 9, 906 9, 927



Other liabilities 3,319 3, 641

Mnority interest of unitholders in the
Operating Partnership 305, 153 178, 567
Conmi t nents and conti ngenci es
Shar ehol ders' equity:
Preferred shares of beneficial interest
no par val ue per share; authorized
20, 000, 000 shares; |iquidation
preference $50.00 per share; issued
5,789, 315 shares 281, 320 279, 884
Common shares of beneficial interest:
$. 04 par val ue per share; authorized
100, 000, 000 shares; issued 83, 327,904

and 72, 164, 654 shares in each period 3,333 2,887
Addi tional capital 1,591, 221 1, 146, 385
Accurnul ated deficit (114, 070) (109, 561)

1,761, 804 1, 319, 595
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities

avail able for sale 2,464 (840)
Due fromofficers for purchase of conmon

shares of beneficial interest (4, 924) (4,993)

Total sharehol ders' equity 1, 759, 344 1,313,762

TOTAL LI ABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUI TY $ 3,983,536 $ 2,524,089

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
VORNADO REALTY TRUST
CONSOLI DATED STATEMENTS OF | NCOVE

(amounts in thousands except per share anpunts)

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED FOR THE SI X MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JUNE 30, JUNE 30, JUNE 30
1998 1997 1998 1997
Revenues:
Property rentals $ 109, 362 $ 41,004 $ 181,727 $ 63,471
Expense rei mbursenents 17, 094 8, 951 32,790 15, 161
O her income (including fee incone
fromrelated parties of $777 and $329
and $1,185 and $643) 2,067 707 4,217 1, 327
Total revenues 128, 523 50, 662 218, 734 79, 959
Expenses
Operating 51, 454 18, 151 85, 607 26, 658
Depreciation and anortization 15, 029 5, 462 25, 395 8,429
General and administrative 7,070 2,903 12,017 4,748
Anortization of officer's deferred
conpensati on expense - - 6, 249 -- 12,498
Total expenses 73,553 32,765 123, 019 52,333
QOper ating incone 54, 970 17, 897 95, 715 27,626
Income applicable to Al exander's 1, 490 1, 437 3, 146 2,842
Income frompartially owned entities 5, 756 585 9,676 802
I nterest and ot her investnent incone 5,271 9, 241 12, 837 11, 658
Interest and debt expense (26,679) (13, 272) (46, 502) (17, 350)
Mnority interest of unitholders in the
Operating Partnership (4,492) (2,100) (7,069) (2,100)
Net | ncone 36, 316 13,788 67, 803 23,478

Preferred stock dividends (including accretion
of issuance expenses of $719 and $479
and $1, 438 and $479 ) (5,422) (4, 855) (10, 845) (4, 855)



Net Inconme applicable to comon shares $ 30,894

Net Incone per comon share - basic $ .38

Net incone per comon share - diluted

Di vi dends per common share

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST
CONSOLI DATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATI NG ACTI VI Tl ES:
Net incone
Adj ustnments to reconcile net incone to net
cash provided by operations
Depreci ation and anortization (including debt issuance costs)
Anmortization of officer's deferred conpensati on expense
Straight-lining of rental income
Mnority interest of unitholders in the Operating Partnership
Equity in (incone) |oss of Al exander's
i ncluding depreciation of $300 in each period

Equity in net inconme of partially-owned entities
Gain on marketable securities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM | NVESTI NG ACTI VI Tl ES:

Acqui sitions of real estate and other

Investnents in partially-owned entities

Investment in nortgage | oans receivable

Repayment of nortgage | oans receivable

Cash restricted for tenant inprovenents

Additions to real estate

Purchases of securities available for sale

Proceeds fromsale or maturity of securities available for sale
Real estate deposits and ot her

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FI NANCI NG ACTI VI Tl ES:

Proceeds from borrow ngs

Repayments on borrow ngs

Debt issuance costs

Proceeds fromissuance of common shares

Proceeds fromissuance of preferred stock

Repayment of borrowings on U S. Treasury obligations
Di vi dends paid on common shares

Di vidends paid on preferred shares

Exerci se of stock options

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equival ents
Cash and cash equival ents at begi nning of period

Cash and cash equival ents at end of period
SUPPLEMENTAL DI SCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW | NFORMATI ON:

Cash paynents for interest

NON- CASH TRANSACTI ONS
Fi nanci ng assuned in acquisitions
Mnority interest in connection with acquisitions

$ 56,958
s .74
s 72
s 80

$ 18,623

FOR THE SI X MONTHS ENDED

JUNE 30,
1998

$ 67,803

26, 834
(6,414)
7,069

(297)
(9, 676)
(1, 447)
(1,661)

(681, 387)
(165, 633)
(2, 875)
57, 663
590

(47, 450)
(22, 420)
14, 903
(133, 072)

1, 295, 855
(863, 258)
(6,533)
445, 282

(61, 470)
(10, 845)
69

(98, 370)
355, 954

J

UNE 30
1997

23,478

8,977
12, 498
(1, 487)

2,100

307
(282)
(579)

5,977

(263, 790)

(226, 000)
(29, 434)
(107, 153)
(3, 436)

463, 000
(504)
(1,857)
276, 000
(9, 636)
(33, 387)
(4, 855)
193

110, 130
89, 696



Unrealized gain on securities available for sale 3, 304

See notes to consolidated financial statenents.
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLI DATED FI NANCI AL STATEMENTS
1. ORGANI ZATI ON

Vornado Realty Trust ("Vornado") is a fully-integrated real estate
investment trust ("REIT"). In April 1997, Vornado transferred substantially al
of its assets to Vornado Realty L.P., a Delaware limted partnership (the
"Operating Partnership"). As a result, Vornado now conducts its business
through, and substantially of its interests in properties are held by, the
Operating Partnership. Vornado is the sole general partner of the Operating
Partnership and owns a 92% | imted partnership interest at June 30, 1998. All
references to "Vornado" in these financial statenents refer to Vornado Realty
Trust; all references to the "Qperating Partnership" refer to Vornado Realty
L.P. and all references to the "Conpany" refer to Vornado and its consolidated
subsidiaries, including the Operating Partnership.

2. BASI S OF PRESENTATI ON

The consol i dat ed bal ance sheet as of June 30, 1998, the consolidated
statenments of incone for the three and six nonths ended June 30, 1998 and June
30, 1997 and the consolidated statements of changes in cash flows for the six
nmont hs ended June 30, 1998 and June 30, 1997 are unaudited. In the opinion of
managenent, all adjustments (which include only nornmal recurring adjustnents)
necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and
changes in cash flows have been made. Certain information and footnote
di scl osures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or onmtted
These condensed consolidated financial statenents should be read in conjunction
with the financial statenments and notes thereto included in Vornado's 1997
Annual Report to Shareholders. The results of operations for the period ended
June 30, 1998 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the
full year.

The acconpanyi ng unaudited consol i dated condensed financial statenents
include the accounts of Vornado Realty Trust and its mmjority-owned subsidiary
Vornado Realty L.P. Al significant interconpany ampunts have been elim nated
Equity interests in partially-owned entities include partnerships, joint
ventures and preferred stock affiliates (corporations in which the Conpany owns
all of the preferred stock and none of the comon equity) and are accounted for
under the equity nethod of accounting as the Conpany exercises significant
influence. These investnents are recorded initially at cost and subsequently
adjusted for equity in net incone (loss) and cash contributions and
distributions. Oamership of the preferred stock entitles the Conpany to
substantially all of the econom c benefits in the preferred stock affiliates.
The common stock of the preferred stock affiliates is owned by Oficers and
Trustees of Vornado

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conformto the
June 30, 1998 financial statenent presentation

3. ACQUI SI TI ONS AND FI NANCI NGS

ACQUI SI Tl ONS!

West port

On January 29, 1998, the Conpany acquired the Westport Corporate O fice
Park froma limted partnership that included menbers of the Mendik G oup, a
related party. The purchase price was approximately $14 nillion consisting of $6
mllion of cash and an $8 nillion nortgage |oan.

One Penn Pl aza

On February 9, 1998, the Conpany acquired a |long-term | easehold
interest in One Penn Plaza, a Manhattan office building fromMd-City
Associ ates. The purchase price was approximately $410 million consisting of $317
mllion of cash and a $93 nillion bridge nortgage |oan
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST
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NOTES TO CONSOLI DATED FI NANCI AL STATEMENTS
150 East 58th Street

On March 9, 1998, the Conpany acquired 150 East 58th Street (the
"Architects and Design Center"), a Manhattan office building, for a cash
purchase price of approximately $118 mllion, froma |imted partnership.

The Merchandi se Mart Properties

On April 1, 1998, the Conpany acquired a real estate portfolio fromthe
Kennedy Family for approxinmately $630 million, consisting of $187 million in
cash, $116 nmillion in Operating Partnership Units, $77 mllion in existing debt
and $250 nillion of newy issued debt. The conponents of the $630 million
reflect a July 1998 repaynent of a $26 mllion nortgage.

The acquired real estate assets consist of a portfolio of properties
used for office, retail and trade show oom space which aggregate approxi mately
5.4 million square feet and include the Merchandise Mart in Chicago. The
transaction also includes the acquisition of Merchandise Mart Properties, Inc.
whi ch nmanages the properties and trade shows.

Following is a summary of the notes and nortgages payabl e,
collateralized by the Merchandi se Mart Properties (anounts in thousands):

Mer chandi se Mart nortgage payable, due in 1999, non-anortizing with
interest at LIBOR plus 1.35% (7.09% at June 30, 1998) (prepayable
wi t hout penalty)

Washington O fice Center nortgage payable, due in 2004, anortization based
on a 25 year term with interest at 6.80% (prepayable with yield
mai nt enance)

Washi ngt on Design Center nortgage payable, due in 2000, anportization based
on a 25 year term with interest at LIBOR plus 3.00% (8.77% at
June 30, 1998) (prepayable wi thout penalty)

888 Seventh Avenue and 40 Fulton Street

On June 2, 1998, the Conpany entered into an agreenent to acquire the
| easehol d interest in 888 Seventh Avenue, a 46 story office building containing
approxi mately 847,000 square feet |located in mdtown Manhattan, and
si nul taneously acquired 40 Fulton Street, a 29 story office building containing
approxi mately 234,000 square feet |located in downtown Manhattan. The aggregate
consideration for both buildings is approximtely $154.5 mllion. The
acquisition of 888 Seventh Avenue is expected to be conpleted not later than the
third quarter of 1999 in conjunction with other unrelated transactions to be
effected by the seller, and is subject to customary closing conditions.
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSCLI DATED FI NANCI AL STATEMENTS
OTHER FI NANCI NGS
Sal e of Conmon Shares

On April 15, 1998, the Conpany conpl eted the sale of 10,000,000 conmon
shares pursuant to an effective registration statement with net proceeds to the
Conpany of approxi mately $401, 000, 000. On April 29, 1998, the Conpany sold
1,132,420 common shares to a unit investnment trust, which were valued for the
purpose of the trust at $41.06 per share, resulting in net proceeds of
approxi mately $44, 000, 000.

One Penn Pl aza

On June 15, 1998, the Conpany conpleted a $275, 000, 000 refinancing of
its One Penn Plaza office building and borrowed $170, 000, 000 pursuant thereto.
In the third quarter, the Conpany borrowed the renmi ni ng $105, 000, 000. The debt
matures in June 2002, is prepayable at anytinme, and bears interest at LIBOR +
1.25% (currently 6.95% . This debt replaced the $93, 000, 000 bri dge-nortgage | oan
financing put in place when the property was acquired.

$250, 000

51, 537



See "lnvestnents in and Advances to Partially Oamned Entities" for other
acqui sitions and financing activities of partially owned entities.

PRO FORNMA | NFORVATI ON

The unaudited pro fornma condensed consolidated informati on set forth bel ow
presents (i) the condensed consolidated statenments of incone for Vornado for the
si x nmont hs ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 as if the acquisitions described above
and those included in Investments in and Advances to Partially Omed entities
and the financings attributable thereto had occurred on January 1, 1997 and (ii)
the condensed consolidated pro forma bal ance sheet of Vornado as of June 30
1998, as if such acquisitions and financings had occurred on that date

Condensed Consolidated Pro Forma Incone Statenents

Pro Forma
Si x Mont hs Ended
June 30, 1998 June 30, 1997

(amounts in thousands, except per share anpunts)

Revenues $ 281, 391 $ 269,513
Net incone $ 68,072 $ 60,733
Preferred stock dividends (10, 845) (9,992)
Net incone applicable to comopn shares $ 57,227 $ 50,741
Net income per commopn share - basic $ . 69 $ .61
Net incone per comon share - diluted $ .67 $ .59
Page 8
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLI DATED FI NANCI AL STATEMENTS

Condensed Consolidated Pro Forma Bal ance Sheet at June 30, 1998
(amounts in thousands)

Total assets $4, 282, 536
Total liabilities $2, 218, 039
M nority interest 305, 153
Total sharehol ders' equity 1, 759, 344
Total liabilities and sharehol ders' equity $4, 282, 536
4, I NVESTMENTS | N AND ADVANCES TO PARTI ALLY- OANED ENTI TI ES

The Conpany's investments in and advances to partially-owned entities
and incone recognized from such investments is as foll ows:

I NVESTMENTS AND ADVANCES

June 30, 1998 Decenber 31, 1997

(amounts in thousands)

Col d Storage Conpani es $351, 970 $243, 846
Al exander' s 107, 789 108, 752
Charles E. Smith Commerci al Realty L.P. 61, 375 60, 437
Hot el Pennsyl vani a 45, 159 20, 152
Mendi k Partially-Owmed O fice Buildings 80, 302 37, 209

Vor nado Managenent Corp., Mendik
Managenent Conpany, Merchandi se
Mart Properties, Inc. and other 43, 621 12, 391



| NCOMVE:

Three Months Ended Si x Mont hs Ended

June 30, 1998 June 30, 1997 June 30, 1998 June 30, 1997

Income Applicable to Al exander's $1, 490 $1, 437 $3, 146 $2, 842
Ot her Partially-Owmed Entities:
Col d Storage Conpani es $1, 450 $ -- $3, 164 $
Hot el Pennsyl vani a 1, 445 -- 1, 389
Charles E. Smith Commerci al
Realty L.P. 1, 352 -- 2,351
Mendi k Partially-Owmed Ofice
Bui | di ngs 409 282 1, 322

Vor nado Managenent Corp.,
Mendi k Managenent Conpany,
Mer chandi se Mart Properties
Inc. and ot her 1, 100 303 1, 450

Al exander's

Al exander's is managed by and its properties are | eased by the
Conpany pursuant to agreements with a one-year termwhich are autonmatically
renewabl e. Subject to the paynents of rents by Al exander's tenants, the Conpany
is due $3,689,000 under its |easing agreement with Al exander's which anmount is
included in Investnents in and Advances to Al exander's. Included in Incone from
Vornado Managenent Corp. is managenent fee income from Al exander's of $938, 000
and $1, 876,000 in each of the three and six nonths ended June 30, 1998 and 1997,
respectively.
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST

NOTES TO CONSOLI DATED FI NANCI AL STATEMENTS

On June 18, 1998, Alexander's increased its interest in the
Kings Plaza Mall to 100% by acquiring Federated Department Store's ("Federated")
50% i nterest. The purchase price was approxi mately $28, 000,000, which was paid
in cash. In addition, Alexander's has agreed to pay Federated $15, 000,000 to

renovate its Macy's store in the mall in exchange for certain nodifications to
the Kings Plaza Operating Agreenment. In connection with the acquisition,
Al exander's has conpleted a $90 million three-year nortgage |oan with Union Bank

of Switzerl and.
Col d Storage Compani es

On April 23, 1998, the Cold Storage Conpanies conpleted a
$550, 000, 000 non-recourse ten-year |oan secured by 58 of its warehouses. The
| oan bears interest at 6.89% The net proceeds fromthe |oan together with
wor ki ng capital were used to repay $607, 000, 000 of bridge financing, which
repl aced high yield debt assuned at the date of acquisition.

On June 15, 1998, a partnership in which Vornado owns a 60%
interest through a preferred stock affiliate acquired the assets of Freezer
Services, Inc., consisting of nine cold storage warehouses in the central United
States for approximately $133 million, including $107 nillion in cash and $26
mllion in indebtedness. On July 1, 1998, the Carmar G oup cold storage
war ehouse business was simlarly acquired for approximtely $158 nillion
including $144 million in cash and $14 mllion indebtedness. Carmar owns and
operates five cold storage distribution warehouses in the nmidwest and sout heast
United States.

Hot el Pennsyl vani a

On May 1, 1998, the Conpany acquired an additional 40%
interest in the Hotel Pennsylvania increasing its ownership to 80% The Conpany
purchased the additional 40%interest fromHotel Properties Limted (one of its
joint venture partners) for approximately $70 million, including $48 million of
exi sting debt.



Mendi k Partially-Owmed O fice Buildings

On April 20, 1998, the Conpany increased its interest from
5.6%to approximately 50% in 570 Lexington Avenue, a 49 story office building
located in m dtown Manhattan containing approxinately 435,000 square feet. The
Conpany purchased the additional interest for approximately $37.2 mllion
including $4.9 nmillion of existing debt.

5. OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTI ONS

The Conpany lent M. Fascitelli, the President of the Conpany
$3, 500, 000 on March 2, 1998 and $2, 600,000 on April 30, 1998, in accordance wth
the terms of his enploynment agreenent. The | oans have a five-year term and bear
interest, payable quarterly, at a rate of 5.47% and 5.58% respectively (based
on the md-term applicable federal rate provided under the Internal Revenue
Code)

The Conpany currently manages and | eases the real estate assets of
Interstate Properties pursuant to a nanagenment agreenent. Management fees earned
by the Conpany pursuant to the managenent agreenment were $574, 000 and $184, 000
for the three nonths ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 and $772, 000 and $377, 000 for
the six nonths ended June 30, 1998 and 1997
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST

NOTES TO CONSOLI DATED FI NANCI AL STATEMENTS

The Mendi k Group owns an entity which provides cleaning and rel ated
services and security services to office properties including the Conpany's
Manhattan of fice properties acquired subsequent to June 30, 1997. The Conpany
was charged fees for these services of $5,957,000 and $11, 224,000 for the three
and six nmonths ended June 30, 1998 and $2,585,000 for the period fromApril 15,
1997 to June 30, 1997. A portion of these fees is expected to be reinbursed to
the Conpany by its tenants.

6. COW TMENTS AND CONTI NGENCI ES

At June 30, 1998, in addition to the $652, 250, 000 bal ance outstandi ng
under the Conpany's revolving credit facility, the Conpany has utilized
approxi mately $77,000, 000 of availability under the facility for letters of
credit and guarantees primarily related to pending acquisitions.

I'n January 1997, two individual investors in Mendik Real Estate Linmted
Partnership ("RELP"), the publicly held limted partnership that indirectly owns
a 60% interest in the Two Park Avenue Property, filed a purported class action
agai nst NY Real Estate Services 1, Inc. ("NY Real Estate"), Mendi k RELP Corp.
B&B Park Avenue, L.P. (an indirect subsidiary of the Company which acquired the
remaining 40% interest in Two Park Avenue) and Bernard H Mendik in the Suprene
Court of the State of New York, County of New York, on behalf of all persons
holding limted partnership interests in RELP. The conplaint alleges that, for
reasons which include purported conflicts of interest, the defendants breached
their fiduciary duty to the limted partners, that the then proposed transfer of
the 40% interest in Two Park Avenue would result in a burden on the operation
and managenment of Two Park Avenue and that the transfer of the 40% i nterest
violates RELP's right of first refusal to purchase the interest being
transferred and fails to provide linmted partners in RELP with a conparable
transfer opportunity. Shortly after the filing of the conplaint, another linted
partner represented by the sane attorneys filed an essentially identica
conplaint in the same court. Both conplaints seek unspecified damages, an
accounting and a judgnent requiring either the Iiquidation of RELP and the
appoi ntnent of a receiver or an auction of Two Park Avenue. In August 1997, a
fourth limted partner, represented by separate counsel, commenced anot her
purported class action in the same court by serving a conplaint essentially
identical to the conplaints in the two previously commenced actions. These
| awsui ts have since been consolidated. On June 2, 1998, the parties entered into
a Stipulation and Agreement of Conpromise, Settlenment and Rel ease (the
"Settlement"). The Settlenment provides, anong other things: (i) for Vornado to
purchase the Partnership's interest in Two Park Avenue for approxi mtely $34.6

mllion, which will be paid in cash, or at Vornado's election, in any
conbi nati on of cash or shares of Vornado stock, plus the assunption of $39
mllion in existing debt; and (ii) for Vornado to purchase the Partnership's

interest in 550-600 Mamaroneck Avenue, Harrison, New York and 330 West 34th
Street, New York, NY for an aggregate price of $30 nmillion in cash. The
Settlement is subject to, among other things, the final approval of the Court
and the execution of definitive docunentation. The Court has scheduled a

Settl enent Fairness Hearing for Septenber 23, 1998 to, anpng other things
determ ne whether the Settlement is fair, reasonable and adequate and to

det erm ne whether an Order and Final Judgnent should be entered disnissing the
actions with prejudice



In April 1997, the Conpany's Lodi shopping center was destroyed by a
fire. The Conpany intends to rebuild the shopping center comencing in 1998,
which rebuilding is subject to the approval of local authorities. The Conpany
carries replacement value insurance. To date, the insurance carrier has paid the
Conpany $5, 500,000 as a deposit for the above mentioned rebuilding. In the event
the Conpany cannot rebuild the shopping center, a large portion of the deposit
woul d be returned to the carrier. If the shopping center is rebuilt, the Conpany
will recognize a gain neasured by the total proceeds fromthe insurance carrier,
whi ch could anount to approxi mately $10, 000, 000, net of the book value of the
property of $1, 564, 000.
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLI DATED FI NANCI AL STATEMENTS
7. EARNI NGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the conputation of basic and dil uted
earni ngs per share:

Three Months Ended Si x Mont hs Ended

(ampunts in thousands except per share anpunts)

Nuner at or :
Net incone $ 36, 316 $ 13,788 $ 67,803 $ 23,478
Preferred stock dividends (5, 422) (4, 855) (10, 845) (4, 855)

Nurer ator for basic and
di l uted earnings per share -
income applicable to
conmon shares $ 30, 894 $ 8,933 $ 56, 95 $ 18,623

Denomi nat or:
Denomi nator for basic
earni ngs per share
--wei ghted average

shares 82, 159 52,184 77,197 52,180
Effect of dilutive securities:
Enpl oyee stock options 2,085 1,594 2,286 1, 399

Denonmi nator for diluted
earni ngs per share -
adj ust ed wei ght ed
aver age shares and
assuned conver si ons 84, 244 53,778 79, 483 53,579

Net income per conmon

share - basic $ .38 $ .17 $ .74 $ .36
Net income per conmon
share - diluted $ .37 $ .17 $ .72 $ .35
8. COVPREHENSI VE | NCOVE

I'n June 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statenent
No. 130, "Reporting Conprehensive |Income" (SFAS 130). SFAS 130 establishes
standards for reporting and display of conprehensive incone and its components.
The statenent, which requires disclosure of net incone including unrealized
gains and | osses recognized in the equity section of the balance sheet, was
adopted by the Conpany in the first quarter of 1998.

The Conpany's conprehensive income was $32, 647,000 and $9, 954, 000 for
the three nonths ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 and $60, 262, 000 and $19, 619, 000
for the six nonths ended June 30, 1998 and 1997.
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9. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Investnent in Limted Partnership

On July 8, 1998, the Conpany invested $47 million for a 30%share in a
joint venture with Apollo Real Estate Investnment Fund III, L.P. which owns
Newki rk Hol di ngs. Newkirk Hol di ngs owns various equity and debt interests
relating to 120 linmited partnerships which own credit net |eased real estate

770 Broadway

On July 24, 1998, the Conpany acquired 770 Broadway, a 1,000,000 square
foot Manhattan office building, for approximately $149 million, including $18
mllion of Vornado Operating Partnership Units (on June 26, 1998, $167, 600, 000
had been escrowed for this transaction).

Capital Trust

On July 29, 1998, the Conpany purchased $50 nmillion of Capital Trust's
8.25% Step Up Convertible Trust Securities. The preferred shares are convertible
at any time by the holder into common shares at a price of $11.70, reflecting a
30% conversion preniumover Capital Trust's comon stock price at the close of
busi ness on Friday, July 24, 1998. The preferred shares have a 20-year nmaturity
and are non-callable for five years. Capital Trust is a fully integrated
sel f-managed specialty finance conpany focused on the commercial real estate
industry. Steven Roth, Chairman and Chief Executive Oficer of Vornado will join
Capital Trust's Board of Trustees

20 Broad Street

On August 4, 1998, the Conpany sold a 40% interest in a $27, 000, 000
nortgage on 20 Broad Street to one of the owners of the property for
$10, 800, 000. On August 5, 1998, as part of a related transaction, the Conpany
acquired the Mendik Group's 60% interest in the property for approxi mately
$600, 000 of Vornado Operating Partnership Units.
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Certain statenents contained herein constitute forward-1ooking
statements as such termis defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Certain factors could
cause actual results to differ materially fromthose in the forward-Iooking
statements. Factors that m ght cause such a material difference include, but are
not limted to, (a) changes in the general economc climte, (b) Iloca
condi tions such as an oversupply of space or a reduction in demand for rea
estate in the area, (c) conditions of tenants, (d) conpetition from other
avai |l abl e space, (e) increased operating costs and interest expense, (f) the
timng of and costs associated with property inprovenents, (g) changes in
taxation or zoning |aws, (h) governnent regulations, (i) failure of Vornado to
continue to qualify as a REIT, (j) availability of financing on acceptable
terms, (k) potential liability under environnental or other |aws or regul ations
and (1) general conpetitive factors.

RESULTS OF OPERATI ONS

The Conpany's revenues, which consist of property rentals, tenant
expense rei nbursenents and other incone were $128,523,000 in the quarter ended
June 30, 1998, conpared to $50,662,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase
of $77,861,000. Revenues were $218, 734,000 for the six nonths ended June 30
1998, conpared to $79,959,000 in the prior year's six nonths, an increase of
$138, 775, 000. These increases included $74, 498, 000 and $134, 247,000 of revenues
from properties acquired which are not reflected in operations for all or a
portion of the prior year's periods presented

Property rentals were $109, 362,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 1998
conpared to $41,004,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of $68, 358,000
Property rentals were $181, 727,000 for the six months ended June 30, 1998
conpared to $63,471,000 in the prior year's six nmonths, an increase of
$118, 256, 000. These increases resulted from

Three Mont hs
Dat e of Ended
Acqui si tions: Acqui sition June 30, 1998

Si x Mont hs

Ended
June 30,

1998



40 Fulton Street June 1998 $ 489, 000

Mer chandi se Mart Properties April 1998 26, 887, 000
150 E.58th Street March 1998 4,018, 000
One Penn Pl aza February 1998 14, 437, 000
West port January 1998 661, 000
Green Acres Mall Decenber 1997 5, 506, 000
640 Fifth Avenue Decenber 1997 1,272, 000
Ri ese June 1997 1, 208, 000
90 Park Avenue May 1997 6, 957, 000
Mendi k April 1997 3,583, 000
Mont ehi edra Shoppi ng Cent er April 1997 367, 000

65, 385, 000

Leasing Activity and Step-Ups in Leases

Shoppi ng centers 1,513, 000
O fice buildings 1, 460, 000
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Tenant expense rei nbursements were $17,094,000 in the quarter ended
June 30, 1998, conpared to $8,951,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase
of $8,143,000. Tenant expense rei nbursenments were $32, 790,000 for the six nonths
ended June 30, 1998, conpared to $15,161,000 in the prior year's six nonths, an
increase of $17,629,000. These increases included $8,477,000 and $18, 174, 000
fromtenants at properties acquired which are not reflected in operations for
all or a portion of the prior year's periods presented

Operating expenses were $51, 454,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 1998
as conpared to $18,151,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of
$33, 303, 000. Operating expenses were $85,607,000 for the six nonths ended June
30, 1998, conpared to $26,658,000 in the prior year's six nonths, an increase of
$58, 949, 000. These increases included $31, 848,000 and $57, 230, 000 from
properties acquired which are not reflected in operations for all or a portion
of the prior year's periods presented

Depreci ation and anortization was $15, 092,000 in the quarter ended June
30, 1998, as conpared to $5,462,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of
$9, 567, 000. Depreciation and anortization was $25, 395,000 for the six nonths
ended June 30, 1998, conpared to $8,429,000 in the prior year's six nonths, an
increase of $16,966,000. These increases were prinmarily a result of
acqui sitions

General and admi nistrative expenses were $7,070,000 in the quarter
ended June 30, 1998 conpared to $2,903,000 in the prior year's quarter, an
increase of $4,167,000. General and adm nistrative expenses were $12,017,000 for
the six nmonths ended June 30, 1998, conpared to $4,748,000 in the prior year's
si x months, an increase of $7,269,000. O these increases: (i) $1,162,000 and
$2,721,000 is attributable to acquisitions, (ii) $1,585,000 and $2, 551, 000
resulted from payroll and corporate office expenses and (iii) $1,420,000 and
$1, 997,000 resulted from professional fees

The Conpany recogni zed an expense of $6,249, 000 and $12, 498,000 in the
prior year's quarter and six nonths representing the anortization of the
deferred paynent due to the Conpany's President, which was fully anortized at
Decenber 31, 1997

Inconme applicable to Alexander's (loan interest inconme, equity in
incone and depreciation) was $1,490,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 1998
conpared to $1,437,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of $53, 000
Income applicable to Al exander's was $3, 146,000 for the six nonths ended June
30, 1998, conpared to $2,842,000 in the prior at year's six nonths, an increase
of $304,000. These increases resulted prinarily fromthe comencenent of |eases
at Al exander's Rego Park and Kings Plaza store properties, partially offset by
| ower interest income on the Conpany's |loan to Al exander's comencing in the
second quarter of 1998

Income frompartially-owned entities was $5, 756,000 in quarter ended
June 30, 1998, conpared to $585,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of
$5, 171, 000. Inconme frompartially-owned entities was $9, 676,000 for the six
nont hs ended June 30, 1998, conpared to $802,000 in the prior year's six nonths
an increase of $8,874,000. These increases resulted from

$ 489, 000
26,887, 000
5, 150, 000
22,609, 000
1,117, 000
10, 963, 000
2,611, 000
2,486, 000
13, 889, 000
24,949, 000
2,203, 000

113, 353, 000

3, 080, 000
1, 823, 000



Three Mont hs

Si x Mont hs
Ended
June 30, 1998

$ 3,164, 000

2,351, 000
1, 389, 000
1, 040, 000

930, 000

$ 8,874, 000

Dat e of Ended

| nvest ment s Acqui sition June 30, 1998
Col d Storage Conpanies Oct ober 1997 $ 1, 450, 000

Charles E. Snith
Commercial Realty L.P. Oct ober 1997 1, 352, 000
Hot el Pennsyl vani a Sept emrber 1997 1, 445, 000
Mendi k Partiall y-owned office buildings April 1997 127, 000
Managenent Conpani es Vari ous 797, 000
$ 5,171, 000
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Interest and other investnent inconme (interest incone on nortgage |oans
receivabl e, other interest income, dividend incone and net gains on marketable
securities) was $5,271,000 for the quarter ended June 30, 1998, conpared to
$9, 241,000 in the prior year's quarter, a decrease of $3,970,000. This decrease
resulted primarily from higher average investnents in the second quarter of the
prior year. Interest and other investnent income was $12,837,000 for the six
nont hs ended June 30, 1998, conpared to $11,658,000 in the prior year's six
nont hs, an increase of $1,179,000. This increase resulted primarily from gains
on the sale of marketable securities.

Interest and debt expense was $26,679, 000 for the quarter ended June
30, 1998, conpared to $13,272,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of
$13, 407, 000. Interest and debt expense was $46, 502,000 for the six nonths ended
June 30, 1998, conpared to $17,350,000 in the prior year's six nonths, an
increase of $29,152,000. These increases resulted primarily fromdebt in
connection with acquisitions.

The minority interest unit holders in the Operating Partnership are
entitled to preferential distributions which aggregated $4, 492, 000 and
$7,069, 000 for the three and six nonths ended June 30, 1998 and $2, 100, 000 for
the period fromApril 15, 1997 to June 30, 1997. Distributions for the three and
si x nmonths ended June 30, 1998 include approxi mately $1, 915,000 applicable to
Operating Partnership units issued in connection with the acquisition of the
Mer chandi se Mart properties in April 1998

The preferred stock dividends of $5,422,000 and $10, 845,000 for the
three and six nmonths ended June 30, 1998 and $4, 855,000 for the period from
April 15, 1997 to June 30, 1997 in the prior year apply to the 6.5% preferred
shares issued in April and December 1997 and include accretion of expenses of
i ssuing them
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LI QUI DI TY AND CAPI TAL RESOURCES
Si x Mont hs Ended June 30, 1998

Cash flows provided by operating activities of $82,211, 000 was
primarily conprised of (i) net income of $67,803,000 and (ii) adjustnents for
non-cash itenms of $16, 069,000, offset by (iii) the net change in operating
assets and liabilities of $1,661,000. The adjustments for non-cash items are
primarily conprised of (i) depreciation and anortization of $26,834,000 and (ii)
mnority interest of $7,069,000, partially offset by (iii) the effect of
straight-lining of rental income of $6,414,000 and (iv) equity in net incone of
partially-owned entities of $9, 676,000

Net cash used in investing activities of $979, 681,000 was primarily
conprised of (i) acquisitions of real estate of $681, 387,000 (see detail bel ow),
(ii) investments in partially-owned entities of $165,633,000 (see detail bel ow),
(iii) deposits in connection with real estate acquisitions of $133,797,000 and
(iv) capital expenditures of $47,450,000, partially offset by (v) proceeds from



the repaynent of nortgage | oans receivable of $57,663,000 (Rickel and Riese
nortgage | oans). Acquisitions of real estate and investments in partially-owned
entities conprised of (ampunts in thousands)

Debt Val ue of Tot a
Cash Assuned Units |ssued Consi derati on
Real Estate:
Mer chandi se Mart Properties $ 187, 000* $ 327,000% $ 116,000 $ 630,000
One Penn Plaza O fice Building 317, 000 93, 000 -- 410, 000
150 East 58th Street O fice Building 118, 000 - - - - 118, 000
40 Fulton Street O fice Building 54, 000 -- -- 54, 000
O her 5, 387 -- -- 5, 387
$ 681, 387 $ 420, 000 $ 116,000 $1, 217, 387

Investnments in Partially Owmed Entities:
Hot el Pennsyl vani a (acquisition of additiona
40% i nterest increasing ownership to 80% $ 22,000 $ 48, 000 $ -- $ 70, 000
570 Lexi ngton Avenue O fice Buil ding
(increased interest from5.6%to

approxi mately 50% 32, 300 4,900 -- 37, 200
Acqui sition of Freezer Services, Inc. (60%
i nterest) 58, 000 16, 000 6, 000 80, 000
Reduction in Cold Storage Conpanies
debt (60% i nterest) 44,000 -- -- 44,000
Ct her 9, 333 -- -- 9, 333
$ 165,633 $ 68, 900 $ 6, 000 $ 240,533

* Reflects July 1998 repaynent of $26 million of debt

Net cash provided by financing activities of $799, 100,000 was prinmarily
conprised of (i) proceeds from borrow ngs of $1,295,855,000, and (ii) proceeds
fromthe issuance of conmon shares of $445,282,000 partially offset by (iii)
repaynment of borrowi ngs of $863,258,000, (iv) dividends paid on comon shares of
$61, 470, 000 and (v) dividend paid on preferred shares of $10, 845,000 (i ncl udes
accretion of expenses of issuing the preferred shares of $1, 438, 000)
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Si x Mont hs Ended June 30, 1997

Cash flows provided by operating activities of $50, 989, 000 was
conprised of (i) net income of $23,478,000, (ii) adjustments for non-cash itens
of $21,534,000 and (iii) the net change in operating assets and liabilities of
$5,977,000. The adjustments for non-cash itens are prinmarily conprised of (i)
anortization of deferred officer's conpensati on expense of $12,498,000, (ii)
depreciation and anortization of $8,977,000, (iii) equity in |loss of Alexander's
of $307,000, and (iv) minority interest of $2,100,000, partially offset by (v)
the effect of straight-lining of rental incone of $1,487,000 and (vi) equity in
net income of investees of $282, 000

Net cash used in investing activities of $629,813,000 was primarily
conprised of (i) expenditures of $263,790,000 in connection with the Mendik
Transaction, (ii) investnments in nortgage |oans receivable of $226,000, 000
(iii) capital expenditures of $107,153,000 (including the acquisition of a
shoppi ng center for $75,587,000 in April 1997 (Puerto Rico Transaction) and the
acquisition of four other properties in June 1997 for $26, 000,000 (Riese
Transaction)) and (iv) restricted cash for tenant inprovenents of $29, 434, 000

Net cash provided by financing activities of $688,954,000 was prinmarily
conprised of proceeds from (i) borrowi ngs of $463, 000,000, and (ii) issuance of
preferred shares of $276, 000,000, partially offset by (iii) dividends paid of
$38, 242,000 and (iv) the repaynment of borrowi ngs on U S. Treasury obligations of
$9, 636, 000

Funds from Operations for the Three and Six Mnths Ended June 30, 1998
and 1997

Funds from operations were $59, 901,000 in the quarter ended June 30
1998, conpared to $14,950,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of



$44, 951, 000. Funds from operations were $107, 759,000 in the six nonths ended

June 30, 1998, conpared to $27,183,000 in the year's six nmonths, an increase o
$80, 576, 000. Funds from operations for the prior year's quarter and six nonths
reflect anortization of the deferred paynment due to the Conpany's President of
$6, 249, 000 and $12, 498, 000. The follow ng table reconciles funds from operations

and net incone:

Net incone applicable to comopn
shares

Depreci ation and anortization of
real property

Straight-lining of property rentals
for rent escal ations

Leasi ng fees received in excess
of income recognized

Proportionate share of adjustnents

to equity in net income of partially

owned entities to arrive
at funds from operations

Mnority interest in excess of preferential

di stributions

* Restated to conformto second quarter

share basis.

For The Three Months Ended

f

For the Six Months Ended

June 30, 1998 June 30, 1997 June 30, 1998
$ 30, 894, 000 $ 8,933,000 $ 56, 958, 000
14, 839, 000 5,173, 000 25, 033, 000
(4,122, 000) (818, 000) (6,414, 000)
369, 000 849, 000 737,000
13, 429, 000 813, 000 24,376, 000
(657, 000) -- (1, 509, 000)

$ 54,752,000 $ 14, 950, 000 $ 99, 181, 000 *

1998 presentation - no effect on a per

The nunber of shares that should be used for determining funds from

operations per share is the number used for
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Funds from operati ons does not

activities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and is
not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash needs, which is
di sclosed in the Consolidated Statenents of Cash Flows for the applicable

periods. There are no material |ega

restrictions on the use of

funds from operations. Funds from operations should not be considered as an
alternative to net income as an indicator of the Conpany's operating perfornmance

or as an alternative to cash flows as a nmeasure of

liquidity. Managenent

considers funds from operations a relevant supplemental neasure of operating

performance because it provides a basis for

conpari son anong REITs; however

funds from operations may not be conparable to simlarly titled neasures

represent cash generated from operating

reported by other REITs since the Conpany's method of cal culating funds from
operations is different fromthat used by NAREIT. Funds from operations, as

defined by NAREIT, represents net
depreciation and anortization

incone applicable to conmpbn shares before

extraordinary itens and gains or |osses on sales

of real estate. Funds from operations as disclosed above has been nodified to

adj ust for the effect of straight-lining of property rentals for

escal ations and | easing fee incone. Bel ow are the cash flows provided by (used
in) operating, investing and financing activities:

Operating activities
Investing activities

Fi nancing activities

For The Three Mnths Ended
June 30, 1998 June 30, 1997

$ 48,638,000

$ 31, 236, 000

For the Six Months Ended
June 30, 1998 June 30, 1997

$ 82,211, 000

$ 50,989, 000

Certain Cash Requirenments Effecting the Conpany's Liquidity at June 30, 1998

Acqui sitions and investments conpl eted subsequent to June 30

June 30, 1997
$ 18,623, 000
7,857, 000
(1, 487, 000)

1, 303, 000



Investnment in Linited Partnership

On July 8, 1998, the Conpany invested $47 nmillion for a 30% share in a
joint venture with Apollo Real Estate Investment Fund IIl, L.P. which owns
Newki rk Hol di ngs. Newkirk Hol di ngs owns various equity and debt interests
relating to 120 limted partnerships which own credit net |eased real estate.

770 Br oadway

On July 24, 1998, the Conpany acquired 770 Broadway, a 1,000,000 square
foot Manhattan office building for approximtely $149 million, including $18
mllion of Vornado Operating Partnership Units (on June 26, 1998, $167, 600, 000
had been escrowed for this transaction).

Capi tal Trust

On July 29, 1998, the Conpany purchased $50 million of Capital Trust's
8.25% Step Up Convertible Trust Securities. The preferred shares are convertible
at any time by the holder into common shares at a price of $11.70, reflecting a
30% conversion preniumover Capital Trust's commopn stock price at the close of
busi ness on Friday, July 24, 1998. The preferred shares have a 20-year maturity
and are non-callable for five years.

20 Broad Street

On August 4, 1998, the Conpany sold a 40%interest in a $27, 000, 000
nortgage on 20 Broad Street to one of the owners of the property, for
$10, 800, 000. On August 5, 1998, as part of a related transaction, the Conpany
acquired the Mendik Group's 60% interest in the property for approxi mately
$600, 000 of Vornado Operating Partnership Units.
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Pendi ng Acqui sitions:

On June 2, 1998, the Conpany entered into an agreenment to acquire the
| easehol d interest in 888 Seventh Avenue a 46 story office building containing
approxi mately 847,000 square feet located in mdtown Manhattan for approximately
$100 million. The acquisition of 888 Seventh Avenue is expected to be conpleted
not later than the third quarter of 1999 in conjunction with other unrel ated
transactions to be effected by the seller, and is subject to customary cl osing
condi tions.

On June 2, 1998, the Conpany entered into an agreenent to settle
existing litigation - see Legal Proceedings. The Settlement provides, anong
other things: (i) for Vornado to purchase the remaining 60%interest in Two Park
Avenue for approximately $34.6 nmillion, which will be paid in cash, or at the
Conpany's el ection, in any conbination of cash or shares of Vornado stock, plus
the assunption of $39 million in existing debt; and (ii) for Vornado to purchase
the Partnership's interest in 550-600 Manmaroneck Avenue, Harrison, New York and
330 West 34th Street, New York, New York for an aggregate price of $30 nmillion
in cash. The Settlenent is subject to, anpbng other things, the final approval of
the Court.

Fi nanci ngs:

On April 15, 1998, the Conpany conpl eted the sale of 10,000,000 conmon
shares pursuant to an effective registration statement with net proceeds to the
Conpany of approxi mately $401, 000, 000. On April 29, 1998, the Conpany sold
1,132,420 comon shares to a unit investment trust, which were valued for
purposes of the trust at $41.06 per share, resulting in net proceeds of
approxi mately $44, 000, 000.

On June 30, 1998, the Conpany had $652, 250, 000 out standi ng under its
$1, 000, 000, 000 revolving credit facility at a blended interest rate of 7.12%

Al so, in February 1998, the Conpany conpleted a $160, 000, 000
refinancing of the Green Acres Mall and prepaid the then existing $118, 000, 000
debt on the property. The new 10-year debt matures in March 2008 and bears
interest at 6.75%

On April 23, 1998, the Cold Storage Conpanies conpleted a $550, 000, 000
non-recourse ten-year |oan secured by 58 of its warehouses. The | oan bears
interest at 6.89% The net proceeds fromthe | oan together with working capital
were used to repay $607, 000,000 of bridge financing, which replaced high vyield



debt assuned at the date of acquisition.

On June 15, 1998, the Conpany conpleted a $275, 000, 000 refinanci ng of
its One Penn Plaza office building and borrowed $170, 000, 000 pursuant thereto
In the third quarter, the Conpany borrowed the remaining $105, 000, 000. The debt
matures in June 2002, is prepayable at anytine, and bears interest at LIBOR +
1.25% (currently 6.95% . This debt replaced the $93, 000, 000 bri dge-nortgage
I oan financing put in place when the property was acquired

The Conpany anticipates that cash from continuing operations will be
adequate to fund business operations and the paynment of dividends and
distributions on an ongoing basis for nore than the next twelve nonths; however
capital outlays for significant acquisitions may require funding from borrow ngs
or equity offerings

Year 2000 |ssues

The Conpany is continuing to address the Year 2000 issues. Review of
the systens effecting the Conpany is progressing. During the six nonths ended
June 30, 1998, the Conmpany has not incurred substantial costs related to its
Year 2000 efforts. The Conpany does not expect that the cost of nodifications to
it systens, if any, will have a material effect on its financial position
results of operations or liquidity.
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I'n January 1997, two individual investors in Mendik Rea
Estate Limted Partnership ("RELP"), the publicly held limted
partnership that indirectly owns a 60% interest in the Two Park Avenue
Property, filed a purported class action against NY Real Estate
Services 1, Inc. ("NY Real Estate"), Mendik RELP Corp., B&B Park
Avenue, L.P. (an indirect subsidiary of the Conpany which acquired the
remai ning 40% interest in Two Park Avenue) and Bernard H Mendik in the
Suprenme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, on behalf
of all persons holding limted partnership interests in RELP. The
conpl aint alleges that, for reasons which include purported conflicts
of interest, the defendants breached their fiduciary duty to the
limted partners, that the then proposed transfer of the 40% i nterest
in Two Park Avenue would result in a burden on the operation and
managenent of Two Park Avenue and that the transfer of the 40% i nterest
violates RELP's right of first refusal to purchase the interest being
transferred and fails to provide limted partners in RELP with a
conpar abl e transfer opportunity. Shortly after the filing of the
conpl aint, another limted partner represented by the sane attorneys
filed an essentially identical conplaint in the same court. Both
conpl ai nts seek unspecified damages, an accounting and a judgnent
requiring either the liquidation of RELP and the appointnment of a
receiver or an auction of Two Park Avenue. In August 1997, a fourth
limted partner, represented by separate counsel, commenced anot her
purported class action in the sane court by serving a conpl ai nt
essentially identical to the conplaints in the two previously comenced
actions. These | awsuits have since been consolidated. On June 2, 1998
the parties entered into a Stipulation and Agreenment of Conproni se
Settlement and Rel ease (the "Settlenment"). By Order dated July 9, 1998
the Court granted prelimnary approval of the Settlenent and certified
a class pursuant to CPLR 902, for settlement purposes. The Settl enent
provi des, anong other things: (i) for Vornado to purchase the
Partnership's interest in Two Park Avenue for approximately $34.6
mllion, which will be paid in cash, or at Vornado's election, in any
conbi nati on of cash or shares of Vornado stock (which will be freely
tradabl e pursuant to a Section 3(a)(10) exenption under the Securities
Act of 1933), plus the assunption of $39 million in existing debt; and
(ii) for Vornado Realty to purchase the Partnership's interest in
550- 600 Manmaroneck Avenue, Harrison, New York and 330 West 34th Street,
New York, NY for an aggregate price of $30 mllion in cash. Under the
terns of the settlenment, B& Park Avenue, L.P. will not incur any
liability to Plaintiffs. The Settlenment is subject to, ampbng other
things, the final approval of the Court and the execution of definitive
docunent ati on. The Court has scheduled a Settlenent Fairness Hearing
for Septenber 23, 1998 to, anmong other things, determ ne whether the
Settlement is fair, reasonable and adequate and to determ ne whether an
Order and Final Judgnment should be entered dism ssing the actions with
prej udi ce
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| TEM 4. SUBM SSI ON OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURI TY HOLDERS

On May 25, 1998, Vornado held its annual neeting of
shar ehol ders. The sharehol ders voted, in person or by proxy for the
el ection of two nominees to serve on the Board of Trustees for a term
of three years or until their respective successors are duly elected
and qualify. The two nomi nees were elected. The results of the voting
are shown bel ow

Vot es Cast
Agai nst or
Trust ee Vot es Cast For Wt hhel d
Davi d Mandel baum 62, 765, 131 64, 360
Ri chard West 62, 765, 131 64, 360
| TEM 6. EXHI BI TS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8- K.
(a) Exhi bits: The followi ng exhibits are filed with this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q
10 Credit Agreenent dated as of June 22, 1998 anobng One

Penn Plaza, LLC, as Borrower, The Lenders Party
Her et o, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Administrative

Agent
27 Fi nanci al Data Schedul e.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K

During the quarter ended June 30, 1998, Vornado
Realty Trust filed the reports on Form 8-K descri bed bel ow

Dat e of Report
(Date of Earliest
Event Reported) Item Reported Date Filed

April 1,

1998 Conpl etion of Merchandi se Mart April 8, 1998
properties acquisition and
financial statements and pro forma
in connection therewith

April 1, 1998 Anendnent to Merchandi se Mart April 9, 1998
properties Form 8-K

April 9, 1998 | ssuance and sal e of 10, 000, 000 April 16, 1998
common shares

April 22, 1998 I ncrease in authorized shares and April 28, 1998
underwriting agreenent for sale of
1, 132, 420 comon shares

June 2, 1998 Agreenent to acquire 888 Seventh June 11, 1998

Avenue and 40 Fulton Street
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST
S| GNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
under si gned thereunto duly authorized.

VORNADO REALTY TRUST

(Regi strant)

Dat e: August 6, 1998 /sl Irwin CGoldberg

I RW N GOLDBERG



Vice President - Chief Financial
O ficer and Chief Accounting Oficer
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VORNADO REALTY TRUST
EXHI BI T | NDEX
EXHI BI T NO.
10 Credit Agreenent dated as of June 22, 1998 anpbng One Penn Pl aza,

LLC, as Borrower, The Lenders Party Hereto, The Chase Manhattan Bank,
as Admi nistrative Agent

27 Fi nanci al Data Schedul e.
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(Back To Top)
Section 2: EX-10 (CREDIT AGREEMENT)

Exhibit 10

CREDI T AGREEMENT dated as of June 22, 1998, anpong ONE PENN
PLAZA, LLC, as Borrower, the LENDERS party hereto, THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, as
Admi ni strative Agent, CHASE SECURITIES, INC., as Arranger and the CO AGENTS
party hereto.

The parties hereto agree as foll ows:
ARTI CLE 1
Definitions

SECTION 1.01. Defined Ternms. As used in this Agreenment, the
followi ng terns have the neani ngs specified bel ow

"ABR' when used in reference to the Loan, refers to whether
the Loan is bearing interest at a rate determ ned by reference to the Alternate
Base Rate.

"Adjusted LIBO Rate" neans, with respect to any Eurodollar
Loan for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if
necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1% equal to (a) the LIBO Rate for such Interest
Period multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate.

"Admi nistrative Agent" means The Chase Manhattan Bank, in its
capacity as admi nistrative agent for the Lenders hereunder.

"Admi nistrative Questionnaire" neans an Administrative
Questionnaire in a formsupplied by the Admi nistrative Agent.

"Affiliate" neans, with respect to a specified Person, another
Person that directly, or indirectly through one or nore internediaries, Controls
or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified.

"Agreenment” neans this Credit Agreenent, including the
Schedul es and Exhibits hereto, as the sane may be anended, suppl enented or
otherwi se nodified fromtinme to tine.

"Alternate Base Rate" neans, for any day, a rate per annum
equal to the greater of (a) the Prine Rate in effect on such day and (b) the
Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus 1/2 of 1% Any change in
the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Prine Rate or the Federal Funds
Ef fective Rate shall be effective fromand including the effective date of such
change in the Prine Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate, respectively.
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"Appl i cabl e Percentage" neans, with respect to any Lender, the
percentage of the total Conmitments represented by such Lender's Commitnent. |f
the Conmitnents have term nated or expired, the Applicable Percentages shall be
det erm ned based upon the Comm tnents nost recently in effect, giving effect to
any assignnments.

"Applicable Rate" neans 1.25%

"Arranger" neans Chase Securities, Inc., inits capacity as
arranger for the Lenders hereunder.

"Assi gnnent and Acceptance" nmeans an assi gnment and acceptance
entered into by a Lender and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose
consent is required by Section 9.04), and accepted by the Adm nistrative Agent,
in the formof Exhibit A or any other form approved by the Admi nistrative Agent.

"Assi gnnent of Leases" neans the Assignnment of Leases and
Rents dated as of the date of this Agreement made by the Borrower in favor of
the Admi nistrative Agent, as the sane nmay be amended, suppl enented or otherw se
nodified fromtime to tine.

"Avail abl e Commi tnent" neans, as to any Lender on a particul ar
date during the Conmitnment Period, an anmpunt equal to the difference between (a)
such Lender's Commitment and (b) the aggregate ampunt of all advances of such
Lender's Conm tnment made prior to such date.

"Board" neans the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System of the United States of Anerica.

"Borrower" nmeans One Penn Plaza, LLC, a New York limted
liability conpany.

"Busi ness Day" nmeans any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or
ot her day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or required
by law to remain closed; provided that, when used in connection with a
Eur odol I ar Loan, the term "Business Day" shall also exclude any day on which
banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the London interbank
mar ket .

"Capital Lease Cbligations" of any Person nmeans the
obligations of such Person to pay rent or other ampunts under any |ease of (or
ot her arrangenment conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a
conbi nation thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and
accounted for as capital |eases on a bal ance sheet of such Person under GAAP,
and the anmpunt of such obligations shall be the capitalized anount thereof
determ ned in accordance w th GAAP.
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"Cash Col | ateral Agreement" means the Cash Col |l ateral
Agreenent to be entered into by the Borrower and the Adm nistrative Agent, as
the sane may be anended, supplenented or otherwise nodified fromtine to tine.

"Change in Control" means the occurrence of any of the
following: (i) the CGuarantor ceases to own 100% of the nembership interests in
the Borrower or (ii) Vornado Realty Trust or its successor by merger or
consol i dation ceases to be the sole general partner in the Guarantor.

"Change in Law' neans (a) the adoption of any law, rule or
regul ation after the date of this Agreenent, (b) any change in any law, rule or
regulation or in the interpretation or application thereof by any Governnental
Authority after the date of this Agreenment or (c) conpliance by any Lender (or,
for purposes of Section 2.07(b), by any lending office of such Lender or by such
Lender's hol ding conpany, if any) with any request, guideline or directive of
any Governnmental Authority nade or issued after the date of this Agreenent.

"Co- Agent s" neans the Persons designated on the signature
pages hereto as a "Co-Agent".

"Code" neans the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as anmended
fromtime to tinme.

"Commi tnent" means, with respect to each Lender, the
commi t ment of such Lender to nmake a portion of the Loan to the Borrower,
expressed as an anopunt representing the nmaxi num aggregate ampunt of such
Lender's Credit Exposure hereunder, as such commitnent may be reduced or
increased fromtinme to tinme pursuant to assignments by or to such Lender
pursuant to Section 9.04. The initial anpunt of each Lender's Conmitnent is set
forth on Schedule 2.01 (which schedule is subject to change fromtime to time
after the Effective Date as and when additional Persons beconme Lenders and/or



pursuant to permtted assignnents by Lenders), or in the Assignment and
Accept ance pursuant to which such Lender shall have assuned its Conmitment, as
appl i cabl e.

"Comm t ment Period" shall nmean the period from and including
the Effective Date to and including August 31, 1998 or such earlier date as the
Conmi tment shall term nate as provided herein.

"Control" neans the possession, directly or indirectly, of the
power to direct or cause the direction of the managenent or policies of a
Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or
ot herwi se. "Controlling" and "Controlled" have neanings correlative thereto.

"Credit Exposure" nmeans, with respect to any Lender at any
time, the outstanding principal amunt of such Lender's portion of the Loan.
4

"Debt Service Coverage Ratio" means, as of the |last day of any
fiscal period of Borrower, the ratio of (a) Net Operating Incone for the
appl i cabl e DSCR Period ending on such date to (b) all principal and interest
paynents nade during the applicable DSCR Period ending on such date. For
purposes of this definition, (i) "fiscal period of Borrower" neans any fiscal
quarter ending on March 31, June 30, Septenber 30 or Decenber 31 and any fiscal
year ending on Decenber 31 and (ii) any calcul ation of Debt Service Coverage
Ratio shall be calculated as of the last day of the fiscal period of Borrower
whi ch i mredi ately precedes the date of calcul ation.

"Default" means any event or condition which constitutes an
Event of Default or which upon notice, |apse of tinme or both would, unless cured
or wai ved, beconme an Event of Default.

"Default Rate" shall have the meaning given to such termin
Section 2.05(b).

"Di scl osed Matters" means the actions, suits and proceedi ngs
and the environmental matters disclosed in Schedul e 3. 06.

"dollars" or "$" refers to |lawful noney of the United States
of America.

"DSCR Period" means (i) for purposes of Section 2.02 hereof, a
period of the twelve consecutive cal endar nonths i nmedi ately preceding the |ast
day of the applicable fiscal period of the Borrower and (ii) for purpose of
Section 6.06 hereof and the OP Guarantee, a period of the six consecutive
cal endar nonths i nmedi ately preceding the | ast day of the applicable fiscal
period of the Borrower.

"Effective Date" nmeans the date on which the conditions
specified in Section 4.01 are satisfied (or waived in accordance with Section
9.02) and the funding of the Initial Advance occurs.

"Environmental Laws" neans all laws, rules, regulations,
codes, ordinances, orders, decrees, judgnments, injunctions, notices or binding
agreenents issued, pronulgated or entered into by any Governnment Authority,
relating in any way to the environnent, preservation or reclamation of natural
resources, the managenent, release or threatened rel ease of any Hazardous
Material or to health and safety matters.

"Environnmental Liability" neans any liability, contingent or
otherwi se (including any liability for damages, costs of environmental
remedi ation, fines, penalties or indemities), of the Borrower directly or
indirectly resulting fromor based upon (a) violation of any Environnental Law,
(b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatnent or
di sposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials,
(d) the release or threatened rel ease of any Hazardous Materials into the
environnent or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual
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arrangenment pursuant to which liability is assuned or inmposed with respect to
any of the foregoing.

"ERI SA" neans the Enployee Retirenment |Incone Security Act of
1974, as anended fromtine to tine.

"ERI SA Affiliate" nmeans any trade or business (whether or not
incorporated) that, together with the Borrower, is treated as a single enployer
under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or, solely for purposes of Section 302
of ERI SA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as a single enployer under



Section 414 of the Code.

"ERI SA Event" nmeans (a) any "reportable event", as defined in
Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder with respect to a
Pl an (other than an event for which the 30-day notice period is waived); (b) the
existence with respect to any Plan of an "accunul ated fundi ng deficiency" (as
defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), whether or not
wai ved; (c) the filing pursuant to Section 412(d) of the Code or Section 303(d)
of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the mninum funding standard with
respect to any Plan; (d) the incurrence by the Borrower or any of its ERI SA
Affiliates of any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the
term nation of any Plan; (e) the receipt by the Borrower or any ERI SA Affiliate
fromthe PBGC or a plan adninistrator of any notice relating to an intention to
term nate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to adm nister any Plan; (f)
the incurrence by the Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability
with respect to the withdrawal or partial w thdrawal from any Plan or
Mul ti enpl oyer Plan; or (g) the receipt by the Borrower or any ERI SA Affiliate of
any notice, or the receipt by any Multienployer Plan fromthe Borrower or any
ERI SA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the inposition of Wthdrawal Liability
or a determination that a Miltienployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent
or in reorganization, within the neaning of Title IV of ERI SA

"Eurodol lar" when used in reference to the Loan or any portion
of the Loan, refers to whether such Loan is bearing interest at a rate
determ ned by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate.

"Event of Default" has the neaning assigned to such termin
Article VII.

"Excluded Taxes" neans, with respect to the Adnministrative
Agent, any Lender or any other recipient of any paynent to be made by or on
account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder, (a) incone or franchise
taxes inposed on (or neasured by) its gross or net incone by the United States
of America, or by the jurisdiction under the | aws of which such recipient is
organi zed or in which its principal office is located or, in the case of any
Lender, in which its applicable lending office is located, (b) any branch
profits taxes inposed by the United States of Anerica or any simlar tax inposed
by any other jurisdiction in which the Borrower is |ocated

and (c) in the case of a Foreign Lender (other than an assignee pursuant to a
request by the Borrower under Section 2.11(b)), any withholding tax that is

i nposed on anmounts payable to such Foreign Lender at the tinme such Foreign
Lender beconmes a party to this Agreenent or is attributable to such Foreign
Lender's failure or inability to conply with Section 2.09(e).

"Federal Funds Effective Rate" neans, for any day, the
wei ght ed average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1% of the
rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with nenbers of the Federal
Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next
succeedi ng Busi ness Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such
rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average
(rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1% of the quotations for
such day for such transactions received by the Adm nistrative Agent fromthree
Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it.

"Financial Oficer" means, with respect to any Person, the
chief financial officer, principal accounting officer, treasurer or controller
of such Person.

"Foreign Lender" neans any Lender that is organized under the
laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Borrower is |located. For
purposes of this definition, the United States of Anerica, each State thereof
and the District of Colunbia shall be deenmed to constitute a single
jurisdiction.

"GAAP" neans generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of Anerica.

"CGovernnental Authority" nmeans the governnent of the United
States of Anerica, any other nation or any political subdivision thereof,
whet her state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory
body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, |egislative,
judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or
pertaining to governnent.

"Ground Leases" nean the collective reference to each
Mort gaged Lease described on Exhibit B to the Mrtgage.

"Quarantee" of or by any Person (the "guarantor") means any



obligation, contingent or otherw se, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the
econom c effect of guaranteeing any |Indebtedness or other obligation of any
ot her Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or
indirectly, and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect
(a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or paynent
of ) such | ndebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or
supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the paynent thereof, (b) to
purchase or |ease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring
the owner of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof, (c)
to nmaintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statenment
condition or liquidity
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of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such

I ndebt edness or other obligation or (d) as an account party in respect of any
letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such |ndebtedness or
obligation; provided, that the term CGuarantee shall not include endorsenents for
collection or deposits in the ordinary course of business

"Quarantor" neans Vornado Realty L.P., a Delaware |limted
partnership.

"Hazardous Material s" neans all explosive or radioactive
subst ances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances, wastes or other
pol lutants, including petroleumor petroleumdistillates, asbestos or asbestos
containing naterials, polychlorinated bi phenyls, radon gas, infectious or
medi cal wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature regul ated
pursuant to any Environnental Law.

"Hedgi ng Agreenent” means one or nore interest rate swap
agreenents or other interest rate protection agreenents reasonably satisfactory
to the Administrative Agent in an aggregate notional anopunt equal to outstanding
princi pal amount of the Loan between the Borrower and Chase or a financial
institution reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent which limts the
effective "all-in" interest expense of Borrower respecting the Loan at a rate
equal to 9.75% per annum for the period commencing on the Effective Date and
endi ng on Decenber 31, 1999 and at a rate equal to 10.25% per annum during the
period thereafter

"I mprovenents" shall have the meaning given to such termin
the Mortgage

"I ndebt edness" of any Person nmeans, without duplication, (a)
all obligations of such Person for borrowed noney or with respect to deposits or
advances of any kind, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds
debentures, notes or simlar instrunents, (c) all obligations of such Person
upon which interest charges are customarily paid (other than obligations upon
which interest charges may be incurred under contracts entered into in the
ordi nary course of business), (d) all obligations of such Person under
conditional sale or other title retention agreenents relating to property
acquired by such Person, (e) all obligations of such Person in respect of the
deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding current accounts
payabl e incurred in the ordinary course of business), (f) all Indebtedness of
others secured by (or for which the hol der of such Indebtedness has an existing
right, contingent or otherw se, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or
acquired by such Person, whether or not the |ndebtedness secured thereby has
been assuned, (g) all Cuarantees by such Person of Indebtedness of others, (h)
all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (i) all obligations, contingent or
ot herwi se, of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit
and letters of guaranty and (j) all obligations, contingent or otherw se, of
such Person in respect of bankers' acceptances. The |ndebtedness of any Person
shal | include the |Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership in
whi ch such Person is a general partner) to the extent
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such Person is liable therefor as a result of such Person's ownership interest
in or other relationship with such entity, except to the extent the terns of
such | ndebt edness provide that such Person is not |iable therefor

"I ndemi fied Taxes" means Taxes other than Excluded Taxes

"lnitial Advance" shall nean the initial advance of the Loan
in the principal amount of $93, 200, 000

"Interest Payment Date" means the day in each cal endar nonth
during the termof the Loan which nunerically corresponds to the date which is
the first day of the first Interest Period; provided that (i) if any Interest
Paynment Date woul d occur on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest



Paynent Date shall be extended to the next succeedi ng Business Day unl ess such
next succeedi ng Business Day would fall in the next cal endar nmonth in which case
such Interest Paynment Date shall be on the next preceding Business Day and (ii)
if any Interest Paynent Date shall be the |ast Business Day of a cal endar nonth
(or on a day for which there is no nunmerically corresponding day in the
followi ng cal endar nonth), then the inmediately succeeding Interest Payment Date
shall be the | ast Business Day in the inmredi ately succeedi ng cal endar nonth. For
purposes of this Agreenent, the period of tinme between any two consecutive
Interest Paynment Dates during the termof this Agreenent shall be deened to be a
period of one nonth

"Interest Period" nmeans with respect to any Eurodollar Loan
each one, two, three, or six nonth period during the termof this Agreenent
relating to an avail able one, two, three or six nonth Adjusted LIBO Rate under
this Agreenment, the first of which periods comences on the Effective Date and
each of which periods ends on the day nunerically corresponding to the Effective
Date in the |ast cal endar nonth of such Interest Period; provided, that (i) if
any Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest
Period shall be extended to the next succeedi ng Busi ness Day unless such next
succeedi ng Business Day would fall in the next cal endar nonth, in which case
such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day, (ii) any
Interest Period that comrences on the |ast Business Day of a cal endar nmonth (or
on a day for which there is no nunerically corresponding day in the |ast
cal endar nonth of such Interest Period) shall end on the | ast Business Day of
the last cal endar nmonth of such Interest Period and (iii) no Interest Period
shal | extend beyond the Maturity Date. For purposes hereof, the date of a Loan
shal | be the date on which such Loan is nmade

"Leases" neans all |eases and other agreenents (other than the
Ground Leases) of any portion of the Prem ses now or hereafter entered into
including all renewals entered into in accordance with the terms thereof.

"Lenders" neans the Person or Persons listed on Schedule 2.01
and any other Person that shall have becone a party hereto pursuant to an
Assi gnment and
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Accept ance, other than any such Person that ceases to be a party hereto pursuant
to an Assignment and Acceptance

"LIBO Rate" neans, with respect to any Eurodollar Loan for any
Interest Period, the rate appearing on Page 3750 of the Telerate Service (or on
any successor or substitute page of such Service, or any successor to or
substitute for such Service, providing rate quotations conparable to those
currently provided on such page of such Service, as determined by the
Admi nistrative Agent fromtinme to time for purposes of providing quotations of
interest rates applicable to dollar deposits in the London interbank market) at
approximately 11:00 a. m, London tine, two Business Days prior to the
comrencenment of such Interest Period, as the rate for dollar deposits with a
maturity conparable to such Interest Period. In the event that such rate is not
avail abl e at such time for any reason, then the "LIBO Rate" with respect to such
Eurodol | ar Loan for such Interest Period shall be the rate (rounded upwards, if
necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1% at which dollar deposits of $5,000,000 and
for a maturity conparable to such Interest Period are offered by the principa
London office of the Admi nistrative Agent in inmrediately available funds in the
London i nterbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m, London tine, two Business
Days prior to the commencenent of such Interest Period

"Lien" neans, with respect to any asset, (a) any nortgage
deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, encunbrance, charge or security
interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a |essor under
any conditional sale agreenent, capital lease or title retention agreenent (or
any financing | ease having substantially the sane economc effect as any of the
foregoing) relating to such asset and (c) in the case of securities, any
purchase option, call or simlar right of a third party with respect to such
securities.

"Loan" neans the loan in the aggregate principal amount of up
to $275,000, 000 made by the Lenders to the Borrower pursuant to this Agreenent

"Material Adverse Effect" nmeans a naterial adverse effect on
(a) the business, assets, operations, prospects or condition, financial or
ot herwi se, of the Borrower or of the Guarantor, which affects the ability of the
Borrower or the Guarantor to performany of its obligations under this Agreenent
or the other Transaction Docunents, (b) the rights of or benefits available to
the Lenders under this Agreement or the other Transaction Docunents or (c) the
val ue, use or operation of the Mortgaged Property.

"Maturity Date" neans June 22, 2002



"Mbrtgage" neans the Mrtgage and Mortgage Consolidation,
Modi fi cati on and Extension Agreenment dated as of the date of this Agreement nade
by Borrower to Administrative Agent, as the same may be anended, suppl enmented or
otherwi se nodified fromtine to tinme, including, without limtation, pursuant to
Section 4.02(a)(iii).
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"Mrtgaged Property" shall have the neaning given to such term
in the Mrtgage.

"Ml tienpl oyer Plan" nmeans a nultienployer plan as defined in
Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA

"Net Operating Incone" neans for any period, the excess of (a)
Oper ating Revenues for such period over (b) Operating Expenses for such period.

"Note" neans the collective reference to each promi ssory note
that may be assigned to The Chase Manhattan Bank and thereafter severed into
separate notes to be acquired by each Lender and nodified so that each note as
so acquired and nodified shall be nmade by Borrower payable to the order of such
Lender (or, if requested by such Lender, to such Lender and its registered
assigns) in the formannexed hereto as Exhibit B, and any replacenents and
substitutions thereof.

"OP Guarantee" nmeans the Cuarantee dated as of the date of
this Agreenent nade by the Guarantor in favor of the Adm nistrative Agent for
the ratabl e benefit of the Lenders, as the sanme may be anended, suppl enented or
otherwi se nodified fromtinme to tine.

Operating Expenses: For any period, all expenses incurred by
the Borrower for such period in connection with the ownership, operation,
mai nt enance and occupancy of the Prem ses as a Class A office building in New
York, New York, determ ned on the basis of sound cash basis accounting practices
consistently applied, including, without limtation, the follow ng (but w thout
duplication of any item): (A) real estate taxes and assessnents; (B) personal
property taxes; (C) sales taxes, to the extent applicable; (D) ground rent
payabl e under the Ground Leases; (E) charges of utilities and operating costs of
air conditioning and heating for the Inprovenents; (F) nmanagenent fees due and
payabl e under any nmanagenent contract but not less than the fees then being
charged by nanagers of similar office buildings in New York, New York; (G wages
and sal aries of enployees (but not above the l|evel of the on-site building
manager) actually engaged in the operation and nmanagenent of the Prem ses, but
at least at prevailing wage rates in New York, New York, fromtime to tinme for
enpl oyees of the type or types in question, and including enployers' social
security taxes and other taxes levied on or with respect to such wages or
sal aries and insurance and pension benefits and the like; (H premnmi uns payable
under insurance policies (which, in the case of any policies covering nultiple
properties, shall be allocated to the Prem ses pro rata in proportion to the
insured value of the properties covered by such policies); (l) accounting, audit
and | egal fees reasonably incurred by the Borrower in connection with the
operation and managenent of the Prem ses and conpliance with the ternms of the
Transaction Docunments; (J) repair and mai ntenance expenses; (K) expenses for
grounds; (L) security costs; (M costs incurred under cleaning and other service
contracts; (N) costs incurred in providing overtinme services to tenants pursuant
to Leases; (O |I|easing conmissions; and (P) costs of tenant inprovenents. The
followi ng shall be excluded fromthe definition of Operating Expenses: (1) any
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capital expenditures (other than as provided in (O and (P) above); (2) foreign,
United States federal, state and local incone taxes, franchise taxes or other
taxes based on incone; (3) depreciation, anortization and any other non-cash
deductions of the Borrower for inconme tax or financial reporting purposes; (4)
paynents nmade in respect of principal of or interest on or charges related to
the Loan or any other |ndebtedness of the Borrower, other than Indebtedness
permitted pursuant to the terns of Section 6.01 hereof; (5) except to the extent
expressly included above, nonrecurring and other extraordinary itens not
expected to be incurred on an annual basis; and (6) amounts funded from

i nsurance or condemmation proceeds which are applied to repair or restoration of
the Prem ses.

Operating Revenues: For any period, all gross incone, revenues
and consideration, of whatever formor nature, received by or paid to or for the
account or benefit of the Borrower, determ ned on the basis of sound cash basis
accounting practices applied on a consistent basis, including, wthout
limtation, the follow ng (but w thout duplication of any item paid by or on
behal f of |essees, subl essees and sub-subl essees under the Leases to or for the
account or benefit of the Borrower: (A) gross fixed, mninum and guaranteed
rents; (B) overage, additional, participation, and simlar rents; (C anounts



pai d pursuant to escal ation provisions or on account of mmintenance or service
charges, taxes, assessnents, utilities, air conditioning and heating (including
amounts paid on account of overtinme services), and other adm nistrative,
managenent, operating and nmi ntenance expenses for the Prenmises; (D) late
charges and interest payable under Leases; (E) ampunts attributable to the

subl easi ng of space or assignment of Leases; and (F) paynents received as

consi deration for cancellation or termination of Leases, anortized over the
remai ning termof such Leases as if such Leases had not been cancelled or
termnated. |In addition, Operating Revenues shall include ambunts received by or
for the account or benefit of the Borrower on account of any of the follow ng:
(1) rents and receipts fromlicenses, concessions, vending machines and sinlar
itens; (2) parking fees and rentals; and (3) other fees, charges or payments not
denom nated as rental of office, retail, storage, parking or other space in the
Prem ses. Notwi thstanding anything included within the above definition of
"Operating Revenues," there shall be excluded from Operating Revenues anobunts
received on account of any of the follow ng: (w) any security or other deposits
of tenants unless and until they are actually applied to rents owed; (Xx)
paynents received as consideration in whole or in part for the nodification,
extension or renewal of Leases or on account of any default by any |essees,

subl essees and sub-subl essees under Leases; (y) any condenmation or insurance
proceeds (other than rent or business interruption insurance proceeds or any
award for a tenporary taking); and (z) any extraordinary or nonrecurring itens
of revenue.

"Other Taxes" means any and all present or future stanmp or
docunentary taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges or simlar
levies arising fromany paynment made hereunder or fromthe execution, delivery
or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreenent.
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"PBGC' neans the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred
to and defined in ERI SA and any successor entity performng simlar functions.

"Perm tted Encunbrances"” shall have the nmeaning given to such
termin the Mrtgage.

"Person" neans any natural person, corporation, limted
liability conmpany, trust, joint venture, association, conpany, partnership,
Governnmental Authority or other entity.

"Plan" neans any enpl oyee pension benefit plan (other than a
Mul ti enpl oyer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of ERI SA or Section
412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, and in respect of which the Borrower or
any ERISA Affiliate is (or, if such plan were terninated, would under Section
4069 of ERISA be deened to be) an "enployer"” as defined in Section 3(5) of
ERI SA.

"Prem ses" shall have the neaning given to such termin the
Mor t gage.

"Prime Rate" means the rate of interest per annum publicly
announced fromtine to time by The Chase Manhattan Bank as its prine rate in
effect at its principal office in New York City; each change in the Prine Rate
shall be effective fromand including the date such change is publicly announced
as being effective.

"Register" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.04.

"Rel ated Parties" nmeans, with respect to any specified Person,
such Person's Affiliates and the respective directors, officers, enployees,
agents and advisors of such Person and such Person's Affiliates.

"Rents" shall have the nmeaning given to such termin the
Mor t gage.

"Requi red Lenders" neans, at any tinme, Lenders having Credit
Exposures representing nore than 66 2/3% of the sumof the total Credit
Exposures at such time or, if no Credit Exposure is outstanding, Lenders having
Conmitments representing nore than 66 2/ 3% of the sum of the total Conmitnents.

"Statutory Reserve Rate" nmeans a fraction (expressed as a
decimal), the numerator of which is the nunber one and the denom nator of which
is the nunber one nminus the aggregate of the maxi mumreserve percentages
(including any marginal, special, enmergency or supplenental reserves) expressed
as a deci mal established by the Board to which the Adm nistrative Agent is
subject with respect to the Adjusted LIBO Rate, for eurocurrency funding
(currently referred to as "Eurocurrency Liabilities" in Regulation D of the
Board). Such reserve percentages shall include those inposed pursuant to such
Regul ation D. Eurodollar Loan shall be deened to constitute eurocurrency funding
and to be subject to such reserve requirenments without benefit of or credit for



proration, exenptions or offsets that may be available fromtine to tine
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to any Lender under such Regul ation D or any conparabl e regul ation. The
Statutory Reserve Rate shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the
effective date of any change in any reserve percentage

"Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, levies
i nposts, duties, deductions, charges or w thhol dings inposed by any Governnenta
Aut hority.

"Title Conpany" neans the collective reference to Stewart
Title Insurance Conpany, Fidelity National Title Insurance Conpany, O d Republic
Title Insurance Conpany and First Anmerican Title Insurance Conpany, as
co-insurers

"Transaction" means the execution, delivery and performance by
the Borrower of this Agreenent and the other Transaction Docunents and the
borrow ng of the Loan

"Transacti on Docunents" nmeans this Agreenent, the Mrtgage
the Assignnent of Leases, the Cash Collateral Agreenent, the OP Cuarantee and
the ot her documents or instrunments executed or delivered by the Borrower, the
Guarantor or any other Person in connection with the Transaction

"Type" when used in reference to any Loan, refers to whether
the rate of interest on such Loan, is determ ned by reference to the Adjusted
LI BO Rate or the Alternate Base Rate

"Vornado Realty Trust" nmeans Vornado Realty Trust, a Maryl and
real estate investnent trust

"Wthdrawal Liability" nmeans liability to a Multienployer Plan
as a result of a conplete or partial withdrawal from such Miltienployer Plan, as
such terms are defined in Part | of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA

SECTION 1.02. Terns Cenerally. The definitions of terns herein
shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the ternms defined
Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding
mascul i ne, fem nine and neuter forns. The words "include", "includes" and
"including" shall be deenmed to be followed by the phrase "w thout limtation".
The word "will" shall be construed to have the sanme neaning and effect as the
word "shall". Unless the context requires otherw se (a) any definition of or
reference to any agreenent, instrument or other docunent herein shall be
construed as referring to such agreenent, instrument or other docunent as from
time to tine anended, supplenmented or otherw se nodified (subject to any
restrictions on such amendnents, supplenents or nodifications set forth herein),
(b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such
Person's successors and assigns, (c) the words "herein", "hereof" and
"hereunder”, and words of simlar inport, shall be construed to refer to this
Agreenent in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) al
references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedul es shall be
construed to refer to Articles and Sections
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of , and Exhi bits and Schedules to, this Agreement and (e) the words "asset" and
"property" shall be construed to have the sane neaning and effect and to refer
to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash
securities, accounts and contract rights

SECTI ON 1.03. Accounting Terns; GAAP. Except as otherw se
expressly provided herein, all terns of an accounting or financial nature shal
be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect fromtine to time; provided
that, if the Borrower notifies the Adm nistrative Agent that the Borrower
requests an anmendnment to any provision hereof to elimnate the effect of any
change occurring after the date hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on
the operation of such provision (or if the Adm nistrative Agent notifies the
Borrower that the Required Lenders request an amendnent to any provision hereof
for such purpose), regardless of whether any such notice is given before or
after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision
shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied i nmediately
bef ore such change shall have becone effective until such notice shall have been
wi t hdrawn or such provision anended i n accordance herewith.

ARTI CLE |

The Loan



SECTION 2.01. Commitnents; Procedure for Borrowi ng. (a)
Subj ect to the terns and conditions set forth herein, each Lender agrees to make
advances of a portion of the Loan to the Borrower fromtime to tine during the
Conmitment Period up to the amount of its respective Commitnent. The Loan shall
be made in not nore than five advances fromthe Lenders, but only during the
Conmmi t ment Period. The Initial Advance shall be made upon satisfaction of all
conditions set forth in Section 4.01 and the bal ance of the proceeds of the Loan
shal | be disbursed to the Borrower upon satisfaction of all conditions set forth
in Section 4.02.

(b) The Borrower nmy borrow under the Commitments during the
Conmi t ment Period on any Business Day, provided that the Borrower shall give the
Admi ni strative Agent notice, which notice shall be irrevocable with respect to
Eur odol | ar Loans and which notice nust be received by the Adnmi nistrative Agent
prior to 12: 00 Noon, New York City tinme, (x) with respect to Eurodollar Loans,
three Business Days prior to the requested borrowing date or (y) with respect to
ABR Loans, one Business Day prior to the requested borrowi ng date, in each case
specifying (i) the amount and Type of the requested Loan, (ii) the requested
borrowi ng date and (iii) with respect to Eurodollar Loans, the length of the
initial Interest Period therefor. Each borrow ng under the Commitnents shall be
in an amount not |ess than $5,000,000 and in a whole nmultiple of $100,000. Upon
recei pt of any such notice fromthe Borrower, the Admi nistrative Agent shall
promptly notify each Lender thereof. Each Lender will make the ampunt of its pro
rata share of each borrow ng
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avail able to the Admi nistrative Agent for the account of the Borrower, or as

ot herwi se directed by Borrower, prior to 12: 00 Noon, New York City tinme, on the
borrowi ng date requested by the Borrower in funds imediately available to the
Adm ni strative Agent. Such borrowing will then be nade available to the Borrower
by the Administrative Agent crediting the account of the Borrower on the books
of such office with the aggregate of the anmpunts nmmde available to the

Admini strative Agent by the Lenders and in |like funds as received by the

Adm ni strative Agent.

SECTI ON 2. 02. Repaynent of Loan; Evidence of Debt. (a) The
Borrower hereby unconditionally promses to pay to the Admi nistrative Agent for
the account of each Lender consecutive nonthly installnents in the amount of
$1, 000, 000 each, in reduction of the principal balance of the Loan, commencing
on the third anniversary of the Effective Date, and on each Interest Paynent
Date thereafter through and including the Interest Paynent Date inmrediately
preceding the Maturity Date; provided, however, that, if on any Interest Paynent
Date on which an installnent of principal is due (i) the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio equals or exceeds 1.3 to 1, as determ ned by the Admi nistrative Agent and
(B) no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, then the
Adm nistrative Agent, may, in its sole discretion, deposit the installnent of
princi pal paid by the Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.02(a) into a cash
coll ateral account established pursuant to the Cash Col | ateral Agreenent to be
held by the Adm nistrative Agent as security for the Loan.

(b) The Borrower hereby unconditionally prom ses to pay to the
Admi nistrative Agent for the account of each Lender on the Maturity Date the
then unpaid principal amount of the Loan together with all interest accrued and
unpaid and all other suns then owi ng hereunder and under any other Transaction
Docunent .

(c) Each Lender shall mmintain in accordance with its usual
practi ce an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the Borrower to
such Lender resulting fromthe portion of the Loan nade by such Lender,
including the ampunts of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender
fromtime to tinme hereunder.

(d) The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which
it shall record (i) the ampunt of the portion of the Loan nade by each Lender
hereunder, the Type thereof and the Interest Period applicable thereto, (ii) the
amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable
fromthe Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the ampunt of any sum
received by the Administrative Agent hereunder for the account of the Lenders
and each Lender's share thereof.

(e) The entries nmde in the accounts mmintained pursuant to
paragraph (c) or (d) of this Section shall be prinma facie evidence of the
exi stence and amounts of the obligations recorded therein; provided that the
failure of any Lender or the Admi nistrative Agent to nmintain such accounts or
any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the Borrower
to repay the Loan in accordance with the terns of this Agreenent.
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(f) The Borrower shall, at the request of the Administrative
Agent, prepare, execute and deliver to each Lender a Note payable to the order
of such Lender (or, if requested by such Lender, to such Lender and its
regi stered assigns).

SECTI ON 2. 03. Prepaynment of Loan. (a) The Borrower shall not
have any right to prepay the Loan prior to the first anniversary of the
Ef fective Date. From and after the first anniversary of the Effective Date, the
Borrower shall have the right at any tine and fromtine to tinme to prepay the
Loan in whole or in part, subject to prior notice in accordance w th paragraph
(b) of this Section.

(b) The Borrower shall notify the Adm nistrative Agent by
tel ephone (confirnmed by tel ecopy) of any prepaynment hereunder, not |ater than
11: 00 a.m, New York City tine, three Business Days before the date of the
proposed prepayment. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the
prepaynment date and the principal amount of the Loan or portion thereof to be
prepai d. Pronptly follow ng receipt of any such notice, the Admi nistrative Agent
shal | advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. Each partial prepayment of the
Loan shall be in an aggregate ampbunt that is not |ess than $5,000,000 and is a
mul tiple of $500,000. Each prepaynent of the Loan shall be applied ratably anong
the Lenders but otherwise in the manner and proportion as determ ned by the
Admi nistrative Agent in its sole discretion. Prepaynents shall be acconpani ed by
accrued interest to the extent required by Section 2.05 and any paynents
requi red by Section 2.08. Anpunts repaid pursuant to this Section may not be
reborrowed and shall be applied to installnments of principal of the Loan in the
inverse order of their scheduled maturities.

SECTI ON 2. 04. Fees. The Borrower agrees to pay to the
Adnmi nistrative Agent, for its own account and for the account of each Lender,
fees payable in the anbunts and at the tines separately agreed upon between the
Borrower and the Administrative Agent. All such fees shall be paid on the dates
due, in inmmedi ately avail abl e funds.

SECTION 2.05. Interest. (a) Fromand including the first day
of the first Interest Period to, but not including, the [ast day of the |ast
Interest Period during the termof this Agreenent, the entire principal balance
of the Loan shall, except, as specifically set forth in this Agreenent to the
contrary, bear interest at one of the available Adjusted LIBO Rates plus the
Applicable Rate. The avail abl e Adjusted LIBO Rates shall consist of a one-nobnth
Adj usted LIBO Rate, a two-nonth Adjusted LIBO Rate, a three-nonth Adjusted LIBO
Rate and a six-nmonth Adjusted LIBO Rate. The Borrower shall have the right to
sel ect the applicable available Adjusted LIBO Rate to be added to the Applicable
Rate to determne the interest rate applicable to Eurodollar Loans, provided
such selection is made in witing to the Adm nistrative Agent at |east three (3)
Busi ness Days prior to the first day of the Interest Period to which such
selection is to apply. In the event no such selection is nade within such three
(3) Business Day period, the Borrower shall be deened to have irrevocably
sel ected a one-nmonth Adjusted LIBO Rate.
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(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any principal of or
interest on the Loan or any fee or other amount payable by the Borrower
hereunder is not paid when due (after expiration of any grace period), whether
at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherw se, such overdue anpunt shall
bear interest, after as well as before judgnent, at a rate per annum (the
"Default Rate") equal to (i) in the case of overdue principal, 4%plus the rate
otherw se applicable thereto or (ii) in the case of any other anount, 4% plus
the Alternate Base Rate.

(c) Accrued interest on the Loan shall be payable in arrears
on each Interest Paynment Date and on the Maturity Date; provided that (i)
interest accrued pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section shall be payable on
demand and (ii) in the event of any repaynent or prepaynent of the Loan, accrued
interest on the principal anmount repaid or prepaid shall be payable on the date
of such repaynent or prepaynent.

(d) Al interest hereunder shall be conputed on the basis of a
year of 360 days, except that interest conputed by reference to the Alternate
Base Rate at times when the Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prine Rate shall
be conmputed on the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a |leap year), and
in each case shall be payable for the actual nunber of days el apsed (including
the first day but excluding the last day). The applicable Alternate Base Rate or
Adj usted LI BO Rate shall be determ ned by the Adm nistrative Agent, and such
determ nation shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein,
at all times that interest is not accruing at an avail able Adjusted LIBO Rate
plus the Applicable Rate pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.05(a), interest
shall accrue on the entire principal balance of the Loan at the Alternate Base



Rate, except that (i) fromand after the Maturity Date or sooner accel eration of
the Loan, the entire principal balance of the Loan shall bear interest at the
Default Rate and (ii) interest may accrue at the Alternate Base Rate on a
portion of the Loan which is initially made as an ABR Loan pursuant to Section
2.01(b) hereof

(f) The Borrower shall have the option to select up to, but
not in excess of, three (3) Adjusted LIBO Rates to take effect on any given
Interest Paynent Date. The Borrower shall nmmke such election by witten notice
given to the Administrative Agent at |east four (4) Business Days prior to each
Interest Paynment Date, which shall be the last day of a previously selected
Adj usted LI BO Rate period, in which notice the Borrower shall specify the
Adj usted LI BO Rates so selected by the Borrower and the respective portions of
the principal balance of the Loan to which such Adjusted LIBO Rates are to
respectively pertain, it being agreed that:

(i) the mnimum portion of the principal balance of the Loan
to which any such Adjusted LIBO Rate may pertain shall be an anmpunt
sufficient to give each Lender at |east a $500,000.00 share of each
portion of the
18
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princi pal balance of the Loan bearing interest at a particul ar Adjusted
LI BO Rate

(ii) each such Adjusted LIBO Rate so selected by the Borrower
shall be applicable to the portion of the principal balance of the Loan
to which it pertains fromand including the first day of the applicable
Interest Period to, but not including, the |ast day of the Interest
Period applicable to such Adjusted LIBO Rate; and

(iii) the Borrower shall not have the right to exercise its
option pursuant to this provision as of any given Interest Paynent Date
if the effect thereof would be to cause nore than three (3) different
Adj usted LIBO Rate periods to be in effect with respect to the
princi pal balance of the Loan at any given tine during the termof this
Agr eenent .

SECTION 2.06. Alternate Rate of Interest. If prior to the
commencenment of any Interest Period for a Eurodollar Loan

(a) the Adm nistrative Agent determ nes (which determ nation
shal | be concl usive absent manifest error) that adequate and reasonable
neans do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such
Interest Period; or

(b) the Admi nistrative Agent is advised by the Required
Lenders that the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period will not
adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Required Lenders of
making or maintaining its (or their) portion of the Loan for such
I nterest Period

then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower and the
Lenders by tel ephone or telecopy as pronptly as practicable thereafter and
until the Admi nistrative Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the
circunstances giving rise to such notice no |onger exist, such portion or
portions of the Loan shall bear interest at the Alternate Base Rate

SECTION 2.07. Increased Costs. (a) If any Change in Law shall

(i) impose, nodify or deem applicable any reserve, special
deposit or simlar requirenent against assets of, deposits with or for
the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (except any such
reserve requirenment reflected in the Adjusted LIBO Rate); or

(ii) inmpose on any Lender or the London interbank market any
other condition affecting this Agreenent or Eurodollar Loan made by
such Lender or participation therein

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such
Lender of making or maintaining any Eurodollar Loan (or of mamintaining its
obligation to make
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any such Loan) or to increase the cost to such Lender to reduce the anmount of
any sum received or receivable by such Lender (whether of principal, interest or
ot herwi se), then the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional anopunt or

amounts as such Lender shall determine in good faith to be sufficient to



conpensate such Lender, for such additional costs incurred or reduction
suf fered.

(b) If any Change in Law regarding capital requirenents has or
woul d have the effect of reducing the rate of return on any Lender's capital or
on the capital of such Lender's hol ding conpany, if any, as a consequence of
this Agreenent or the Loan made by such Lender to a |level below that which such
Lender or such Lender's hol ding conpany could have achi eved but for such Change
in Law (taking into consideration such Lender's and the policies of such
Lender's hol ding conpany with respect to capital adequacy), then fromtinme to
time the Borrower will pay to such Lender, such additional anopunt or ampunts as
wi Il conpensate such Lender or such Lender's hol ding conpany for any such
reduction suffered

(c) Acertificate of a Lender setting forth the anount or
amounts necessary to conpensate such Lender or its hol ding conpany, as the case
may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section shall be delivered
to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower
shal | pay such Lender, the ampbunt shown as due on any such certificate within 10
days after receipt thereof.

(d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand
conpensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of such
Lender's right to demand such conpensation; provided that the Borrower shall not
be required to conpensate a Lender pursuant to this Section for any increased
costs or reductions incurred nore than six nonths prior to the date that such
Lender notifies the Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased
costs or reductions and of such Lender's intention to claimconpensation
therefor; provided further that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such
increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the six-nonth period referred
to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof

SECTI ON 2.08. Break Funding Paynments. In the event of (a) the
paynment of any principal of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the |ast day of an
Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a result of an Event of
Default), (b) the failure to borrow or prepay any Eurodollar Loan on the date
specified in any notice delivered pursuant to this Agreenent, (c) the assignnent
of any Eurodoll ar Loan other than on the | ast day of the Interest Period
applicable thereto as a result of a request by the Borrower pursuant to Section
2.11, then, in any such event, the Borrower shall conpensate each Lender for the
| oss, cost and expense attributable to such event. Such | oss, cost or expense
shall be deened to include an ampunt equal to the excess, if any, of the net
present value (discounted at the rate that such Lender would bid on such anpunt
for a deposit of conparable period and anpunt in the interbank eurodoll ar
market) of (i) the ampunt of interest that would have accrued on the anount so
prepai d, assigned or not so borrowed for the period fromthe date of such
prepaynent, assignnent or of such failure to borrow to the |ast day of such
I nterest
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Period (or, in the case of a failure to borrow, the Interest Period that would
have comenced on the date of such failure) in each case at the applicable rate
of interest for such Loan provided for herein (excluding, however, the
Applicable Margin included therein, if any), over (ii) the anpunt of interest
(as reasonably determ ned by such Lender) that such Lender would bid on such
amount in the interbank eurodol |l ar market by placing such anbunt on deposit for
a conparabl e period with | eading banks in the interbank eurodollar nmarket. A
certificate of any Lender setting forth any anount or anmpunts that such Lender
is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section shall be delivered to the
Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay
such Lender the anpunt shown as due on any such certificate upon receipt

t her eof .

SECTION 2.09. Taxes. (a) Any and all paynents by or an account
of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder shall be made free and clear of and
wi t hout deduction for any Indemified Taxes or Other Taxes; provided that if the
Borrower shall be required to deduct any |Indemified Taxes or Other Taxes from
such paynents, then (i) the sum payabl e shall be increased as necessary so that
after nmaking all required deductions (including deductions applicable to
addi ti onal sums payabl e under this Section) the Administrative Agent or Lender
(as the case may be) receives an anpbunt equal to the sumit would have received
had no such deductions been made, (ii) the Borrower shall nake such deductions
and (iii) the Borrower shall pay the full anpunt deducted to the rel evant
Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable |aw.

(b) In addition, the Borrower shall pay any Other Taxes to the
rel evant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable |aw

(c) The Borrower shall indemify the Adnministrative Agent and
each Lender, within 10 days after witten denand therefor, for the full anpunt



of any Indemified Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the Adm nistrative Agent or such
Lender, as the case may be, and any penalties, interest and reasonabl e expenses
arising therefromor with respect thereto. A certificate as to the ampunt of
such paynent or liability delivered to the Borrower by a Lender, or by the

Admi nistrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be

concl usi ve absent manifest error

(d) As soon as practicable after any paynent of Indemified
Taxes or Other Taxes by the Borrower to a Governnmental Authority, the Borrower
shall deliver to the Admi nistrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a
recei pt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of
the return reporting such paynent or other evidence of such paynent reasonably
satisfactory to the Adm nistrative Agent.

(e) Any Foreign Lender that is entitled to an exenption from
or reduction of wi thholding tax under the |l aw of the jurisdiction in which the
Borrower is |located, or any treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with
respect to paynents under this Agreement shall deliver to the Borrower (with a
copy to the Adm nistrative
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Agent), at the tinme or tines prescribed by applicable | aw or reasonably
requested by the Borrower, such properly conpleted and executed docunentation
prescribed by applicable law as will permt such paynments to be made without
wi t hhol ding or at a reduced rate

SECTI ON 2.10. Paynents Generally; Pro Rata Treatnent; Sharing
of Set-offs. (a) The Borrower shall neke each paynment required to be made by it
hereunder (whether of principal, interest or fees or under Section 2.07, 2.08 or
2.09, or otherw se) prior to 12:00 noon, New York City tine, on the date when
due, in inmmediately available funds, wi thout set-off or counterclaim Any
amounts received after such time on any date may, in the discretion of the
Admini strative Agent, be deened to have been received on the next succeeding
Busi ness Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon. Al such paynments
shall be nade to the Administrative Agent at its offices at 380 Madi son Avenue
New York, New York, except that paynents pursuant to Sections 2.07, 2.08, 2.09
and 9.03 shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto. The
Admi ni strative Agent shall distribute any such paynents received by it for the
account of any other Person to the appropriate recipient pronptly follow ng
recei pt thereof. If any paynent hereunder shall be due on a day that is not a
Busi ness Day, the date for payment shall be extended to the next succeeding
Busi ness Day, and, in the case of any paynment accruing interest, interest
thereon shall be payable for the period of such extension. Al paynents
hereunder shall be nede in dollars

(b) If at any tinme insufficient funds are received by and
available to the Adm nistrative Agent to pay fully all ampunts of principal
interest and fees then due hereunder, such funds shall be applied (i) first, to
pay interest and fees then due hereunder, ratably anong the parties entitled
thereto in accordance with the anpunts of interest and fees then due to such
parties, and (ii) second, to pay principal then due hereunder, ratably anong the
parties entitled thereto in accordance with the ambunts of principal then due to
such parties

(c) If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of set-off or
counterclai mor otherw se, obtain paynent in respect of any principal of or
interest on its respective portion of the Loan resulting in such Lender
receiving paynent of a greater proportion of the aggregate anount of its Loan
and accrued interest thereon than the proportion received by any other Lender
then the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at
face value) participations in the Loan of other Lenders to the extent necessary
so that the benefit of all such paynments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably
in accordance with the aggregate anpunt of principal of and accrued interest on
their respective portion of the Loan; provided that (i) if any such
participations are purchased and all or any portion of the paynent giving rise
thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase
price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest, and (ii) the
provi sions of this paragraph shall not be construed to apply to any payment nade
by the Borrower pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this
Agreenent or any paynent obtained by a Lender as consideration for the
assi gnment of or sale of a
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participation in the Loan to any assignee or participant, other than to the
Borrower or any Affiliate thereof (as to which the provisions of this paragraph
shal | apply). The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent
it my effectively do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a
participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exerci se agai nst the



Borrower rights of set-off and counterclaimw th respect to such participation
as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the anmpunt
of such participation

(d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice
fromthe Borrower prior to the date on which any paynent is due to the
Admini strative Agent for the account of the Lenders hereunder that the Borrower
wi Il not make such paynment, the Administrative Agent may assunme that the
Borrower has made such paynment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in
reliance upon such assunption, distribute to the Lenders, the anpunt due. In
such event, if the Borrower has not in fact made such payment, then each of the
Lenders severally agrees to repay to the Admi nistrative Agent forthwith on
demand the anmobunt so distributed to such Lender with interest thereon, for each
day fromand including the date such amount is distributed to it to but
excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at the Federal Funds
Effective Rate

(e) If any Lender shall fail to nake any payment required to
be nmade by it pursuant to Section 2.10(d), then the Adm nistrative Agent may, in
its discretion (notwi thstanding any contrary provision hereof), apply any
amounts thereafter received by the Adm nistrative Agent for the account of such
Lender to satisfy such Lender's obligations under such Section until all such
unsatisfied obligations are fully paid.

SECTION 2.11. Mtigation Obligations; Replacenent of Lenders
(a) If any Lender requests conpensation under Section 2.07, or if the Borrower
is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governnenta
Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.09, then such
Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for
funding or booking its portion of the Loan hereunder or to assign its rights and
obli gations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in
the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignnent (i) would elimnate
or reduce anpunts payabl e pursuant to Section 2.07 or 2.09, as the case may be
in the future and (ii) would not subject such Lender to any unreinbursed cost or
expense and woul d not otherw se be di sadvantageous to such Lender. The Borrower
hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in
connection with any such designation or assignnent.

(b) If any Lender requests conpensati on under Section 2.07, or
if the Borrower is required to pay any additional ampunt to any Lender or any
CGovernnmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.09
or if any Lender defaults in its obligation to fund its share of the Loan
hereunder, then the Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon notice to
such Lender and the Adm nistrative Agent, require such Lender to assign and
del egate, without recourse (in accordance
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with and subject to the restrictions contained in Section 9.04), all its
interests, rights and obligations under this Agreenent to an assignee that shal
assunme such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender
accepts such assignnment); provided that (i) the Borrower shall have received the
prior witten consent of the Adm nistrative Agent, which consent shall not
unreasonably be withheld, if such assignee is not already a Lender, (ii) such
Lender shall have received paynment of an anmpunt equal to the outstanding
principal of its share of the Loan, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and
all other anmpunts payable to it hereunder, fromthe assignee (to the extent of
such outstandi ng principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (in
the case of all other ampunts) and (iii) in the case of any such assi gnnent
resulting froma claimfor conpensation under Section 2.07 or paynents required
to be made pursuant to Section 2.09, such assignment will result in a reduction
in such conpensation or paynents. A Lender shall not be required to make any
such assignnent and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by
such Lender or otherw se, the circunstances entitling the Borrower to require
such assignnent and del egati on cease to apply

ARTI CLE ||
Representations and Warranties
The Borrower represents and warrants to the Lenders that:

SECTI ON 3. 01. Organi zation; Powers. The Borrower (i) is duly
organi zed, validly existing and in good standing under the |aws of the
jurisdiction of its organization, has all requisite power and authority to
execute, deliver and performits obligations under this Agreenent and the other
Transaction Docunents and to carry on its business as now conducted and as
proposed to be conducted and, except where the failure to do so, individually or
in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Materia
Adverse Effect, and (ii) is qualified to do business in, and is in good standing



in, New York and every other jurisdiction where such qualification is required.

SECTI ON 3.02. Authorization; Enforceability. The Transaction
is within the Borrower's powers and has been duly authorized by all necessary
action. This Agreenent and the other Transaction Documents have been duly
executed and delivered by the Borrower and constitute |egal, valid and binding
obligations of the Borrower, enforceable in accordance with their respective
ternms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, noratorium
or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to general
principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity
or at |aw.

SECTI ON 3.03. Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts. The
Transaction (a) does not require any consent or approval of, registration or
filing with, or any other action by, any Governnmental Authority, except such as
have been
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obtained or made and are in full force and effect, (b) will not violate any
applicable I aw or regulation or the organizati onal documents of the Borrower or
any order of any Governmental Authority, (c) will not violate or result in a

default under any indenture, agreenent or other instrument binding upon the
Borrower or its assets, or give rise to a right thereunder to require any
paynment to be made by the Borrower, and (d) will not result in the creation or
imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Borrower (other than the Liens for
the benefit of the Lenders pursuant to the Transacti on Docunents).

SECTI ON 3. 04. Financial Condition; No Material Adverse Change.
(a) The Borrower and the Guarantor have heretofore furnished to the Lenders
their consolidated bal ance sheets and statenents of inconme, and cash flows for
the period comenci ng on February 9, 1998 through March 31, 1998, certified by
their Financial Oficers. Such financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position and results of operations and cash
flows of the Borrower and the Guarantor as of such dates and for such period in
accordance with GAAP, subject to year-end audit adjustnments and the absence of
footnotes in the case of the statenents referred to in clause (ii) above.

(b) Since March 31, 1998, there has been no material adverse
change in the business, assets, operations, prospects or condition, financial or
otherw se, of the Borrower or the Guarantor, individually or taken as a whole.

SECTI ON 3.05. Properties. The Borrower has good and valid
title to the | easehold estate in the Prem ses, except for the Permtted
Encunbrances and the Leases, and has good title to, or valid | easehold interests
in, all other property material to its business, except for mnor defects in
title that do not interfere with its ability to conduct its business as
currently conducted or to utilize such properties for their intended purposes.

SECTION 3.06. Litigation and Environmental Matters. (a) Except
for the Disclosed Matters, there are no actions, suits or proceedings by or
before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority pending against or, to the
knowl edge of the Borrower, threatened against or affecting the Borrower or the
Guarantor (i) as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse
determ nation and that, if adversely deternmi ned, could reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect or (ii)
that involve this Agreement or the Transaction or (iii) that involve the
Mort gaged Property that, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Except for the Disclosed Matters, the Borrower (i) has
conplied in all material respects with all Environmental Laws or has obtained,
mai ntained or conplied in all material respects with any permt, |license or
ot her approval required under any Environnental Law, (ii) has not becone subject
to any Environmental Liability which could reasonably be expected, individually
or in the aggregate, to
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result in a Material Adverse Effect, (iii) has not received notice of any claim
with respect to any Environnmental Liability which could reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect or (iv)
has no know edge of any basis for any Environnental Liability which could
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a
Material Adverse Effect.

(c) As of the date of this Agreenent, there has been no change
in the status of the Disclosed Matters that, individually or in the aggregate,
has resulted in a Material Adverse Effect.



SECTI ON 3.07. Conpliance with Laws and Agreements. Each of the
Borrower and the Cuarantor is in conpliance with all |aws, regul ations and
orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it or its property and all
indentures, agreenments and other instrunents binding upon it or its property,
except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, does not
result in a Material Adverse Effect. No material Default has occurred and is
conti nui ng.

SECTI ON 3.08. Investnment and Hol di ng Conpany Status. Neither
the Borrower nor the Guarantor is (a) an "investment conpany" as defined in, or
subj ect to regulation under, the Investment Conpany Act of 1940 or (b) a
"hol di ng conpany"” as defined in, or subject to regulation under, the Public
Uility Hol ding Conpany Act of 1935.

SECTI ON 3.09. Taxes. Each of the Borrower and the Guarantor
has tinmely filed or caused to be filed all Tax returns and reports required to
have been filed and has paid or caused to be paid all Taxes required to have
been paid by it, except (a) Taxes that are being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings and for which the Borrower or such Affiliate, as
appl i cabl e, has set aside on its books adequate reserves or (b) to the extent
that the failure to do so does not result in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.10. ERISA. No ERI SA Event has occurred or is
reasonably expected to occur that, when taken together with all other such ERI SA
Events for which liability is reasonably expected to occur, could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. The present value of all
accumnul ated benefit obligations under each Plan (based on the assunptions used
for purposes of Statenent of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87) did not, as
of the date of the nobst recent financial statenents reflecting such anounts,
exceed the fair market value of the assets of such Plan, and the present val ue
of all accunul ated benefit obligations of all underfunded Plans (based on the
assunptions used for purposes of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
87) did not, as of the date of the npbst recent financial statements reflecting
such ampunts, exceed the fair market value of the assets of all such underfunded
Pl ans.

SECTION 3.11. Disclosure. The Borrower has disclosed to the
Lenders all agreenents, instruments and corporate or other restrictions to which
it or
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any of its Affiliates is subject, and all other matters known to it, that,
individually or in the aggregate, will result in a Material Adverse Effect. None
of the reports, financial statements, certificates or other infornmation
furnished by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Administrative Agent or any
Lender in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement or delivered
hereunder (as nodified or supplemented by other information so furnished)
contains any material msstatement of fact or onmits to state any material fact
necessary to make the statenments therein, in the Iight of the circunstances
under which they were nmade, not materially m sleading; provided that, with
respect to projected financial information, the Borrower represents only that
such informati on was prepared in good faith based upon assunptions believed to
be reasonable at the tine.

SECTI ON 3.12. Year 2000. Any reprogramming required to permit
the proper functioning, in and follow ng the year 2000, of (i) the Borrower's
conputer systenms and (ii) equipnent used in the operation of the Inprovenents
cont ai ni ng enbedded m crochi ps (including systens and equi pnment supplied by
others or with which Borrower's systens interface) and the testing of all such
systens and equi pnent, as so reprogranmmed, will be conpleted by January 1, 1999.
The cost to the Borrower of such reprogranm ng and testing and of the reasonably
foreseeabl e consequences of year 2000 to the Borrower (including, wthout
limtation, reprogrammng errors and the failure of others' systens or
equi pment) will not result in a Default or a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.13. Ground Leases. The Borrower has not received any
notice of default under any G ound Lease.

ARTI CLE IV
Condi ti ons
SECTION 4.01. Effective Date. The obligations of the Lenders
to make the Initial Advance of the Loan hereunder shall not becone effective
until the date on which each of the followi ng conditions is satisfied (or waived

in accordance with Section 9.02):

(a) The Admi nistrative Agent (or its counsel) shall have
recei ved:



(i) Either (A) a counterpart of this Agreenent and the other
Transaction Docunents, signed on behalf of each party hereto and
thereto or (B) witten evidence satisfactory to the Adm nistrative
Agent (which may include tel ecopy transm ssion of a signed signature
page of this Agreenment or such Transaction Documents) that each party
herein or therein has signed a counterpart of this Agreement or such
Transaction Docunents.

(ii) A favorable witten opinion (addressed to the
Admi nistrative Agent and the Lenders and dated the Effective Date) of
Proskauer Rose LLP, counsel
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for the Borrower and the Guarantor, in a formsatisfactory to the
Adm ni strative Agent, and covering such other matters relating to the
Borrower and the Guarantor, this Agreenment, the other Transaction
Docunents or the Transaction as the Adm nistrative Agent shall
reasonably request. The Borrower hereby requests such counsel to

del i ver such opi nion.

(iii) Such documents and certificates as the Administrative
Agent or its counsel may reasonably request relating to the
organi zati on, existence and good standi ng of the Borrower and the
Guarantor, the authorization of the Transaction and any other | egal
matters relating to the Borrower and the Guarantor, this Agreenent, the
ot her Transacti on Docunents or the Transaction, all in form and
substance satisfactory to the Adninistrative Agent and its counsel.

(iv) Al fees and other anpunts due and payable to the
Adm nistrative Agent and the Lenders on or prior to the Effective Date,
including, to the extent invoiced, reinbursenent or paynment of all
out - of - pocket expenses (including, without linmtation, attorneys' fees
and expenses) required to be reinbursed or paid by the Borrower
hereunder or under any other agreenent between the Adm nistrative Agent
and the Borrower.

(v) A nortgagee's policy of title insurance or satisfactory
evidence of Title Conpany's unconditional obligation to issue such a
policy, dated the Effective Date, with co-insurance and reinsurance
agreenments acceptable to the Admi nistrative Agent (the "Title Insurance
Policy"). Such Title Insurance Policy shall (i) be in the anpbunt of the
Loan; (ii) be issued at ordinary rates; (iii) insure the Adm nistrative
Agent that the Mortgage creates a valid Lien on the Mirtgaged Property,
free and clear of all defects and encunbrances, except for the
Permi tted Encunbrances; (iv) be in the formof policies providing the
Agent with the broadest coverage that is then offered by Title Conpany
to nortgagees of properties located in the City of New York and State
of New York and that is otherw se satisfactory to the Adm nistrative
Agent; (v) provide full coverage agai nst mechanics' |iens and agai nst
survey exceptions not specified as Permtted Encunbrances; and (vi)
contain such other endorsenents and affirmati ve coverage as the
Admi ni strative Agent may request. The Adm nistrative Agent shall be
furnished with copies of all documents that appear as exceptions in the
Title Insurance Policy and shall receive evidence satisfactory to the
Admi nistrative Agent that all premuns in respect of such Title
I nsurance Policy have been paid.

(vi) A survey of the Premises (current to within 60 days of
the Effective Date), certified to the Adnministrative Agent and the
Lenders by an independent professional |icensed |and surveyor
satisfactory to the Adm nistrative Agent, which survey shall be nade in
accordance with the M ninmum Standard Detail Requirenents for Land Title
Surveys jointly established and adopted by the Anerican Title
Associ ation and the American
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Congress on Surveying and Mapping in 1988. Wthout linmting the
generality of the foregoing, there shall be surveyed and shown on such
survey the following: (i) the locations of all buildings and other
structures, if any, on the Prem ses and the established building
setback lines; (ii) the lines and the width of streets abutting the
Prem ses; (iii) all access and other easenents appurtenant to or
necessary to the use of the Prem ses; (iv) all roadways, paths,
driveways, easenents, encroachments and overhangi ng projections and
simlar encunbrances affecting the Prem ses, whether recorded, apparent
froma physical inspection of the Prem ses or otherw se known to the
surveyor; (v) any party walls with structures on adjoining property any
encroachnments on any adj oi ning property by the building structures and



i mprovements on the Premi ses; and (vi) if the Prenises is described by
reference to a filed map, a legend relating the survey to such map.

(vii) Policies or certificates of insurance required by the
Mort gage and any of the other Transaction Docunents, acconpani ed by
evidence of the paynment of the prem uns for such policies, with
nort gagee | oss payabl e endorsenments nami ng the Administrative Agent and
the Lenders as | oss payees and additional insureds and confirmation by
the Administrative Agent's insurance consultant that the insurance in
place conplies with all requirements of the Mrtgage.

(viii) A Phase | environnental assessnent, a building
condition report and an asbestos mai ntenance and operation plan with
respect to the Premi ses, each in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.

(ix) The results of a recent search by a Person satisfactory
to the Administrative Agent, of the Uniform Conmercial Code, judgnent
and tax lien filings which may have been filed with respect to personal
property of the Borrower or the Guarantor.

(x) An appraisal which conplies in all respects with the
standards for real estate approvals established pursuant to the
Fi nanci al Institutions Reform and Enforcement Act of 1989 dated within
60 days prior to Effective Date which shall indicate a value for the
Mort gaged Property of not |ess than $400, 000, 000.

(xi) (A) Tenant estoppel certificates in form and substance
satisfactory to the Admi nistrative Agent duly executed by tenants under
Leases as set forth on Schedule 4.01A hereto, (B) ground |essor
estoppel certificates in formand substance satisfactory to the
Adm nistrative Agent duly executed by the ground | essor under each
Ground Lease and (C) subordination, non-di sturbance and attornnment
agreenments in formand substance satisfactory to the Adm nistrative
Agent duly executed by tenants under Leases as set forth on Schedul e
4.01B
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hereto or, if such agreenents are not delivered, the Title Conpany does
not take exception for such Leases on Schedule B to the Title Insurance
Policy.

(xii) Copies of all existing contracts providing for the
managenent, mei ntenance, operation or |easing of the Prem ses, together
with, in each case, such collateral assignments as the Admi nistrative
Agent may require.

(b) No circunmstances shall exist which would constitute a
material Default under this Agreenent or any other Transaction Docunent.

(c) Al representations and warranti es nade by Borrower and
the Guarantor in this Agreenent and each other Transaction Document are true and
correct in all material respects.

(d) Al other conditions of the Administrative Agent for the
funding of the Loan shall have been nmet to the satisfaction of the
Admi ni strative Agent.

The Effective Date shall be deened to have occurred upon the
full execution and delivery of the Transaction Docunents and the funding by the
Lenders of the Loan.

SECTI ON 4. 02. Subsequent Advances. The obligations of the
Lenders to neke advances of all or any portion of the balance of the Loan
hereunder shall not becone effective until the date on which each of the
followi ng conditions is satisfied (or waived in accordance with Section 9.02):

(a) The Administrative Agent (or its counsel) shall have
recei ved:

(i) A continuation or endorsenent of the Title Insurance
Policy, which continuation or endorsenent shall state that since the
di sbursenment of the Initial Advance there have been no changes in the
state of title to the Prem ses and that there are no additional survey
exceptions not previously approved by the Lender and shall increase the
amount of the Title Insurance Policy by an anount equal to all or the
portion of the balance of the Loan being advanced.

(ii) If requested by the Admi nistrative Agent, evidence that
all past and current taxes and assessnents then due which are



applicable to the Prem ses have been paid prior to the sane becom ng
del i nquent

(iii) Notes and nortgages in the anpunt of the advance (which
may be assigned to Adm nistrative Agent as provided bel ow), and an
anendment and consolidation of the Mrtgage which shall increase the
princi pal amount of the indebtedness secured thereby by the amount of
the advance
30

30

(iv) Evidence satisfactory to the Adm nistrative Agent that
all premiums in respect of the increase to the ampunt of insurance
provided by the Title Insurance Policy, and the nortgage recording tax,
have been paid.

(v) Al fees and other ampbunts due and payable to the
Admini strative Agent and the Lenders on or prior to the date of such
advance, including, to the extent invoiced, reinbursement or paynment of
al | out-of -pocket expenses (including, without limtation, attorneys
fees and expenses) required to be reinmbursed or paid by the Borrower
hereunder or under any other agreenent between the Adm nistrative Agent
and the Borrower.

(b) No circunmstance shall exist which would constitute a
material Default under this Agreenent or any other Transaction Docunent.

(c) Al representations and warranti es nade by Borrower and
the Guarantor in this Agreenent and each other Transaction Docunent are true and
correct in all material respects.

(d) The Inprovenents shall not have been materially damaged by
fire or other casualty unless there shall have been received by the
Adm ni strative Agent, or a person approved by the Adm nistrative Agent
insurance proceeds sufficient in the judgnment of the Adm nistrative Agent, to
ef fect satisfactory restoration of the Inprovenents

(e) Al other conditions of the Adm nistrative Agent for the
funding of the Loan shall have been nmet to the satisfaction of the
Admi ni strative Agent

The Administrative Agent agrees to cooperate with the Borrower in
accepting nortgages by assignment and in executing necessary documentation in
connection therewith, provided, that all such nortgages and docunmentation shal
be satisfactory to the Adnministrative Agent

ARTI CLE V
Affirmative Covenants

Until the principal of and interest on the Loan and all fees
and ot her suns payabl e hereunder or under any other Transacti on Docunent shal
have been paid in full, the Borrower covenants and agrees with the Lenders that:
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SECTION 5.01. Financial Statenments and Other Information. The
Borrower will furnish to the Admi nistrative Agent, w th additional copies
thereof for each Lender, the follow ng:

(a) Wthin 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the
Borrower, the Borrower shall furnish (i) the Borrower's and the
Guarantor's audited consolidated bal ance sheets and rel ated statenents
of operations, partnership accounts and cash flows as of the end of and
for such year, reported on by an independent public accountant of
recogni zed national standing (w thout a "going concern"” or |ike
qualification or exception and without any qualification or exception
as to the scope of such audit) and (ii) financial statements for such
year containing a fully item zed statement of profit and | oss and of
surplus and a bal ance sheet covering the operation of the Mrtgaged
Property, setting forth in each case in conparative formthe figures
for the previous fiscal year to the effect that such consolidated
financial statements present fairly in all material respects the
financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its
consol idated Affiliates on a consolidated basis, and the Mrtgaged
Property, as applicable, in accordance with GAAP consistently applied

(b) Wthin 45 days after the end of each cal endar quarter of
each fiscal year of the Borrower, the Borrower shall furnish (i) the
Borrower's and the Guarantor's unaudited consolidated bal ance sheets



and rel ated statenents of operations, partnership accounts and cash
flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then el apsed
portion of the fiscal year, and (ii) a financial statement for such

cal endar quarter containing a fully item zed statenent of profit and

l oss and of surplus and a bal ance sheet covering the operation of the
Mort gaged Property, set forth in each case in conparative formthe
figures for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of
the bal ance sheet, as of the end of) each previous fiscal year,
presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and
results of operations of the Borrower and is consolidated Affiliates on
a consolidated basis, and the Mdrtgaged Property, as applicable, in
accordance with GAAP consistently applied, subject to nornmal year-end
audi t adj ustnents and the absence of footnotes.

(c) Concurrently with each delivery of financial statenents
under cl ause (b) above, the Borrower shall furnish a certificate of a
Fi nancial Oficer of the Borrower (i) certifying to the best of such
Fi nancial Oficer's actual knowl edge as to whether a Default has
occurred and, if a Default has occurred, specifying the details thereof
and any action or proposed to be taken with respect thereto, (ii)
certifying that the financial statements delivered under clause (b)
above are true and correct in all naterial respects, (iii) certifying,
with a reasonably detailed cal cul ati on annexed, the Debt Service
Coverage Ratio for each cal endar quarter to which such financial
statements relate, and (iv) stating whether any change in GAAP or in
the application thereof has occurred since the date of the audited
financial statements referred to in Section
32
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3.04 and, if any such change has occurred, specifying the effect of
such change on the financial statenents acconpanying such certificate.

(d) On or before Decenber 15 of each cal endar year commencing
on Decenber 15, 1998, the Borrower shall furnish an annual operating
budget in respect of the Mirtgaged Property for the ensuing cal endar
year (each an "Annual Operating Budget"). Each Annual Operating Budget
shall (a) be consistent with an operating budget for a Class A office
building in New York, New York and (b) present a reasonably full and
conplete representation of all costs, expenses and fees which the
Borrower, after diligent inquiry and analysis by the Borrower, expects
to pay or to becone obligated to pay in connection with capital
expenditures, the construction of tenant inprovenents, denolition work,
| easing costs, alterations, operating expenses, interest and
anortization on the Loan, and all other reasonably projected costs and
expenses in connection with the Mortgaged Property. The Borrower shall
operate the Mdrtgaged Property in conformity with each Annual Operating
Budget (subject to reasonable nodifications thereto if required) in all
material respects, and shall fromtinme to tine, pronptly follow ng any
request therefor by the Administrative Agent, furnish to the
Adm ni strative Agent reasonabl e evidence of nmterial conpliance
therew th.

(e) Wthin 45 days after the end of each cal endar quarter, the
Borrower shall furnish a rent roll, in formand detail satisfactory to
the Adnministrative Agent, and a |l easing status report advising the
Admi nistrative Agent of the status of all prospective |easing at the
Mort gaged Property, certified as true and conplete by a Fi nanci al
O ficer of the Borrower.

(f) Wthin 30 days follow ng each request therefor, the
Borrower shall furnish such other information regarding the operations,
business affairs and financial condition of the Borrower or the
Guarantor, or evidencing conpliance with the terns of this Agreenent
and the other Transaction Documents, as the Adm nistrative Agent or any
Lender may reasonably request, certified as being true and conplete in
all material respects by a Financial Oficer of the Borrower.

SECTI ON 5.02. Notices of Material Events. The Borrower wll
furnish to the Admi nistrative Agent (with copies to the Adnministrative Agent for
each Lender) pronpt witten notice of the follow ng:

(a) the occurrence of any material Default;

(b) the filing or commrencenent of any action, suit or
proceedi ng by or before any arbitrator or Governnental Authority
agai nst or affecting the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof that, if
adversely determined, would result in a Material Adverse Effect;
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(c) the occurrence of any ERI SA Event that, alone or together
with any other ERISA Events that have occurred, would result in
liability of the Borrower and its Affiliates in an aggregate amount
exceedi ng $500, 000; and

(d) any other developnent that results in a Material Adverse
Ef fect.

Each notice delivered under this Section shall be acconpanied by a statenment of
a Financial O ficer or other executive officer of the Borrower setting forth the
details of the event or devel opnent requiring such notice and any action taken
or proposed to be taken with respect thereto.

SECTI ON 5. 03. Exi stence; Conduct of Business. The Borrower

will, and will cause the Guarantor to, do or cause to be done all things
necessary to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect their |egal
exi stence and the rights, licenses, pernits, privileges and franchises nmateri al

to the conduct of their business.

SECTI ON 5. 04. Paynent of Obligations. The Borrower wll pay
its obligations, including Taxes, before the same shall becone delinquent or in
default, except where (a) the validity or ampunt thereof is being contested in
good faith by appropriate proceedings, (b) the Borrower or the Guarantor has set
aside on its books adequate reserves with respect thereto in accordance with
GAAP and (c) the failure to make paynent pending such contest will not result in
a Material Adverse Effect; provided, however, that the Borrower wll pay real
estate taxes and assessments, water and sewer rents and other governnental
inmpositions relating to the Mortgaged Property in accordance with the provisions
of the Mortgage.

SECTI ON 5. 05. Books and Records; |nspection Rights. The
Borrower will, and will cause the Guarantor to, keep and nmintain, on a fiscal
year basis in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied, proper and accurate
books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries are made of
all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities. The
Borrower will, and will cause the Guarantor to, permt any representatives
desi gnated by the Admi nistrative Agent or any Lender, upon reasonable prior
notice, to visit and inspect its properties, to exani ne and make extracts from
its books and records, and to discuss its affairs, finances and condition with
its officers and i ndependent accountants, all at such reasonable tines and as
often as reasonably requested.

SECTI ON 5. 06. Conpliance with Laws. The Borrower will conply
with all laws, rules, regulations and orders of any Governnmental Authority
applicable to it or its property, except where the failure to do so,
individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in
a Material Adverse Effect; provided, however, that the Borrower will conply with
all material laws, rules, regulations and orders of any Governnental Authority,
including, without Iimtation, Environnental Laws, applicable to the Mrtgaged
Property in accordance with the provisions of the Mrtgage.
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SECTION 5.07. Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Loan will
be used only to refinance the existing i ndebtedness secured by the Mrtgaged

Property, to acquire nortgages which will becone secured by the Mrtgaged
Property and to reduce the Guarantor's line of credit, and no part of such
proceeds will be used, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose that

entails a violation of any of the Regul ations of the Board, including
Regul ations G U and X

SECTI ON 5.08. Further Assurances. The Borrower agrees, at its
expense, that at any time it will, and will cause the Guarantor to, pronptly
execute and deliver all instrunments and docunents, and take all further action
that the Administrative Agent may reasonably request, in order to perfect any
Lien granted under the Transacti on Documents or to enable the Adm nistrative
Agent to exercise and enforce its rights and renedi es hereunder and under the
Transaction Docunents.

SECTI ON 5. 09. Paynent of Leasing Conm ssions and Costs of
Tenant | nprovenents. The Borrower shall pay (i) all costs of tenant inprovenents
required to be paid by the Borrower under Leases executed by the Borrower and
(ii) all leasing conm ssions payable by the Borrower in connection with the
execution of any such Leases.

SECTION 5.10. Conmitment Fee. The Borrower shall pay to the
Admi nistrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, an annual fee equal
to .25% of the Available Conmitnent fromtinme to tinme. Such fee shall be payable
in equal quarterly installnents in arrears, commencing on the Effective Date and
on the first Business Day of each quarter thereafter, until the Loan is repaid
infull.



SECTI ON 5.11. Managenment Agreenent. The Borrower shall
termnate that certain Renting and Managenent Agreenent between Md-City
Associ ates and Hel nsl ey- Spear, Inc. dated June 1, 1972, as anended by letter
agreenment dated February 9, 1998, as of February 9, 1999.

SECTION 5.12. LIRR Ground Lease. The Borrower shall provide to
Admi ni strative Agent evidence in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to
Adm nistrative Agent that all "Percentage Rent" (as defined in the G ound Lease
with The Long Island Rail Road Conpany ("LIRR")) payable under the LIRR G ound
Lease through March 31, 1998 has been paid. Such evidence shall be delivered to
Admi nistrative Agent on or prior to the date which is the earlier of (i) 30 days
after the Effective Date or (ii) if LIRR delivers a notice of default under the
Ground Lease, within the applicable grace period for curing such default as
provided in Section 19 of the LIRR Ground Lease.
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ARTI CLE VI
Negati ve Covenants

Until the principal of and interest on the Loan and all fees
payabl e hereunder have been paid in full, the Borrower covenants and agrees with
the Lenders that:

SECTION 6.01. | ndebtedness. The Borrower will not create,
incur, permt to exist any Indebtedness, except (i) Indebtedness created
hereunder, (ii) commercially reasonable unsecured |ndebtedness incurred in the
ordi nary course of business in connection with the operation of the Mrtgaged
Property and consistent with the Annual Operating Budget (subject to reasonable
nodi fications thereto if required) or (iii) Indebtedness incurred with respect
to |l eases of equipnent used in connection with the Prem ses havi ng annual
paynments not to exceed $100,000 in the aggregate.

SECTION 6. 02. Liens. The Borrower will not (i) create, (ii)
incur, (iii) permt to exist for longer than 60 days or (iv) assume, any Lien on
the Premi ses or on any other property or asset now owned or hereafter acquired
by it, or assign or sell any incone or revenues (including accounts receivable)
or rights in respect of any thereof, except:

(a) Permitted Encunbrances;

(b) the existing Leases and new Leases pernitted under Section
6. 07 hereof; and

(c) Liens secured by or created by the Transaction Docunents.

SECTI ON 6. 03. Fundanental Changes. (a) The Borrower will not
merge into or consolidate with any other Person, or permt any other Person to
nerge into or consolidate with it, or liquidate or dissolve.

(b) The Borrower will not engage in any business other than
the operation of the Mrtgaged Property.

SECTI ON 6. 04. Hedgi ng Agreenents. The Borrower will not
enter into any interest rate protection agreenent, foreign currency exchange
agreenent, commodity price protection agreenent or other interest or currency
exchange rate or commodity price hedging arrangenent, other than the Hedging
Agr eenent .

SECTION 6. 05. Transaction with Affiliates. The Borrower wll
not sell, |lease or otherwi se transfer any property or assets to, or purchase,
| ease or otherwi se acquire any property or assets from or otherw se engage in
any ot her
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transactions with, any of its Affiliates, except in the ordinary course of

busi ness at prices and on ternms and conditions not |ess favorable to the
Borrower or such Affiliate than could be obtained on an armi s-length basis from
unrelated third parties.

SECTION 6.06. Distributions. The Borrower will not neke any
distributions, repaynment of indebtedness, or payment or return of any other sum
to or for the benefit of the Guarantor during any fiscal quarter if the Debt
Service Coverage Ratio as of the last day of such fiscal quarter occurring (i)
during the period comencing on the Effective Date and endi ng on June 30, 1999
is or will be less than 1.0 to 1 and (ii) during any period thereafter is or
will be less than 1.15 to 1.



SECTION 6. 07. Leases. (a) The Borrower wll not, without the
prior witten consent of the Adm nistrative Agent, make, or suffer to be nade,
any Leases other than (i) Leases in existence on the date hereof and (ii) Leases
which conformwith the requirenments of Section 6.07(c).

(b) The Borrower shall deliver pronpt witten notice to the
Admi nistrative Agent of all new Leases, Lease terminations with respect to any
Lease of 50,000 or nore rentable square feet and Lease nodifications, which
notice shall set forth the identity of the tenant, proposed tenant and/or
substitute tenant, as the case nmay be, and all material terns relating to the
proposed letting, term nation or nodification. The Borrower shall, within 15
days after the date of this Agreement, subnmit to the Lender for its review and
approval and the review and approval of its counsel, a standard form of office
| ease and retail |ease, the approval of which shall not be unreasonably wi thheld
or delayed. All Leases of space in the |Inprovenents executed after the date
hereof shall be on the form of Lease previously approved by the Adm nistrative
Agent and its counsel w thout substantive nodification except for comrercially
reasonabl e nodifications typically made in the usual and ordinary course of
arm s length negotiations of |eases of space in inprovements conparable to the
I nprovenents and, unless otherw se elected by the Admi nistrative Agent, be
subj ect and subordinate to the Mrtgage and to the Lien thereof.

(c) In the case of any lease at the Mrtgaged Property
covering less than 50,000 rentable square feet which is not an Internediate
Lease, the Borrower shall have the right w thout the Adm nistrative Agent's
prior consent and provided no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing:
(A) to ternminate or accept a surrender of any such Lease (1) in accordance wth
its terms upon a default by the tenant thereunder or (2) in connection with the
reletting of the space for a rental per square foot at |east equal to the
applicable rental set forth on Schedule 6.07 attached; (B) to enter into new
Leases with tenants, provided that each such lease (1) is substantially in
accordance with the form of Lease previously approved by the Adm nistrative
Agent and its counsel w thout substantive nodification except for comrercially
reasonabl e nodifications typically made in the usual and ordinary course of
arm s length negotiations of |eases of space in inprovenents conparable to the
I nprovenents, (2) is for a rental per square foot at |east equal to the
applicable rental set forth on Schedule 6.07 attached, and (3) will not result
in a tenant (other than existing tenants
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pursuant to Leases entered into prior to this Agreenent or in accordance with
this Agreenent) |easing space in the Mirtgaged Property under other Leases and
the proposed Lease in excess of 50,000 rentable square feet in the aggregate;
and (C) to nodify any such Lease, but only for a rental per square foot at |east
equal to the applicable rental set forth on Schedule 6.07 attached, and provided
that after giving effect to such nodification, such | ease continues to be
substantially (x) in accordance with the standard form of |ease previously
approved by the Adnministrative Agent and its counsel, if such Lease was entered
into after the date of this Agreenent, wi thout substantive nodification except
for comercially reasonable nodifications typically made in the usual and
ordinary course of arnis |ength negotiations of |eases of space in inprovenents
conparable to the Inprovenments or (y) the sanme as the form of such Lease prior
to such anmendnent, if such Lease exists on the date of this Agreenent, w thout
substantive nodification except for comercially reasonable nodifications
typically made in the usual and ordinary course of arnis |ength negotiations of
| eases of space in inprovenents conparable to the Inprovenents. The rentals set
forth on Schedule 6.07 may be nodified each year with the Administrative Agent's
prior consent. The Adm nistrative Agent shall either consent or refuse to
consent to the proposed nodification within 30 Business Days after receipt of
such proposed nodification to Schedule 6.07. If the Adm nistrative Agent shall
fail to respond within such 30 Business Day period, then the Adm nistrative
Agent shall be deened to have consented to such proposed nodification.

(d) Prior to entering into any Lease with respect to 50,000 or
nore rentabl e square feet of space in the Inprovenents (irrespective of whether
the space deni sed under any such | ease or to any such tenant is physically
contiguous) or a renewal, anendnent or term nation of any such Lease, the
Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the follow ng docunments
(collectively, the "Lease Package"): (A) with respect to such new Lease or
renewal , amendnent or term nation of any such Lease, as the case may be, (x) a
signed letter of intent with the proposed tenant or (y) a proposal form prepared
by the Borrower and in substantially the form previously approved by the
Admi nistrative Agent with respect to such Lease or renewal, amendnent or
term nation of any such existing Lease, as the case nay be (such letter of
intent or proposal, as the case may be, being referred to herein as the "Mjor
Ternms Document”), in each case, containing all the material terms of the
proposed Lease or such renewal, anendnent or term nation thereof, as the case
may be, including, without limtation, in the case of a new Lease, the identity
of the proposed tenant and (B) with respect to a new Lease, such infornation



with respect to the prospective tenant as shall pernit the Administrative Agent
and, in the case of a Major Lease, as defined below, the Lenders, to assess such
proposed tenant's business, character and creditworthiness.

(e) The Borrower shall not enter into any (i) retail Lease
with respect to nore than 5,000 rentable square feet of space in the
I nprovenents in connection with which a subordination, attornnent and
non-di sturbance agreenent is required by the tenant thereunder or (ii) office
Lease with respect to nmore than 25,000 rentable square feet of space in the
I nprovenents in connection with which a
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subordi nation, attornment and non-di sturbance agreement is required by the
tenant thereunder or (iii) Lease with respect to 50,000 or nore but |less than
125,000 rentabl e square feet of space in the Inprovenents (in each case,
irrespective of whether the space deni sed under any such Lease or to any such
tenant is physically contiguous) (each such |ease, an "Internedi ate Lease") or
nodi fy, anend (other than ministerial anendnents required or contenplated by an
Intermedi ate Lease (including, without linmtation, such amendnents which are
entered into in order to evidence the exercise by the tenant of a renewal,
extension or expansion option which is contained in such Internediate |ease)),
term nate (except after a default by the tenant thereunder) or accept the
surrender of any existing Internmedi ate Lease without, in each case, first
obtaining the prior witten consent of the Administrative Agent, which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Wth respect to each Internediate
Lease, within ten (10) Business Days after the Adnministrative Agent shall have
received the Lease Package with respect to such Internedi ate Lease, the

Admi ni strative Agent shall either consent or refuse to consent to such Major
Ternms Document. |f the Administrative Agent shall refuse to consent to the
proposed Maj or Terns Docunent, then the Administrative Agent shall pronptly
forward to the Borrower the reasons for such refusal in reasonable detail. If
the Adm nistrative Agent shall fail to respond within such ten (10) Business Day
period, then the Administrative Agent shall be deened to have consented to such
proposed Maj or Terns Docunent.

(f) The Borrower shall not enter into any Lease with respect
to 125,000 or nore rentable square feet of space in the |nprovenents
(irrespective of whether the space demi sed under any such Lease or to any such
tenant is physically contiguous) (each such |ease, a "Major Lease") or nodify,
amend (other than nministerial amendnents required or contenplated by a Mjor
Lease (including, without limtation, such amendnents which are entered into in
order to evidence the exercise by the tenant of a renewal, extension or
expansion option which is contained in such Major Lease)), termi nate (except
after a default by the tenant thereunder) or accept the surrender of any
exi sting Major Lease without, in each case, first obtaining the prior witten
consent of the Required Lenders, which consent shall not be unreasonably
wi thhel d or delayed. Wth respect to each proposed Major Lease or any renewal,
amendnent or termnation of an existing Major |ease, the Adninistrative Agent
shal | pronptly upon receipt deliver a copy of the Lease Package with respect to
such Major Lease or such renewal, amendnent or term nation, as the case nmay be,
to each Lender. Wthin fifteen (15) Business Days after the Adm nistrative Agent
shal | have received the Lease Package with respect to such Major Lease, the
Required Lenders shall either consent or refuse to consent to the Major Terns
Docunent relating to such Major Lease. If the Required Lenders shall refuse to
consent to the proposed Major Terns Document, then the Administrative Agent
shall pronptly forward to Borrower the reasons for such refusal in reasonable
detail. If the Administrative Agent shall fail to respond on behalf of the
Lenders within such fifteen (15) Business Day period, then the Required Lenders
shall be deened to have consented to the proposed Major Terns Docunent with
respect to such Major Lease.
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(g) If the Required Lenders or the Administrative Agent, as
the case may be, shall have approved the Major Terns Docunent with respect to
the termnation (to the extent consent is required) or surrender of an existing
Intermedi ate Lease or Major Lease, then the Borrower may proceed with such
term nation or surrender in accordance with the Major Terns Docunent with
respect to such Internediate Lease or Major Lease. If the Required Lenders or
the Administrative Agent, as the case may be, shall have approved the Mjor
Terns Docunment with respect to a new Internedi ate Lease or Major Lease or the
amendrment (to the extent consent is required) or renewal of an existing
Internedi ate | ease or Major Lease, as the case may be, then the Borrower shall
deliver to the Administrative Agent the final draft of the proposed Internediate
Lease or Major Lease or the relevant renewal or amendnent docunents, as the case
may be, in the case of a new Internediate Lease or Major Lease shall be
mechani cal ly marked to show changes between such Internmediate Lease or Major
Lease, and the standard form | ease approved by the Adm nistrative Agent and its
counsel. Wthin ten (10) Business Days after receipt of the final draft of the



proposed I nternedi ate Lease or Major Lease or the renewal or anmendment

docunments, as the case may be, and provided that Borrower has otherw se conplied
with the terms of this Section 6.07, the Admi nistrative Agent shall approve or
deny approval of such Internediate Lease or Major Lease or renewal or anendnent
docunents, as the case may be, which approval shall not be unreasonably wi thheld
or del ayed, and the approval of the Required Lenders shall not be required. If
the Administrative Agent shall fail to respond with in such ten (10) Business
Day period, then the Adm nistrative Agent shall be deemed to have consented to
such proposed Internediate Lease or Major Lease or such renewal or anmendnent of
an existing Internedi ate Lease or Major Lease, as the case may be

(h) Upon request of Borrower and provided that no Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing hereunder, Adm nistrative Agent shal
execute and deliver to any tenant a subordination and non-di sturbance agreenent
on behal f of Lenders, in a formsatisfactory to Adm nistrative Agent, respecting
any Internediate Lease or Major Lease for which approval has been granted under
this Agreenent.

ARTI CLE VI
Events of Default

If any of the followi ng events ("Events of Default") shal
occur:

(a) the Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of the Loan
when and as the sanme shall becone due and payabl e, whether at the due
date thereof or at a date fixed for prepaynent thereof or otherw se;

(b) the Borrower shall fail to pay any interest on the Loan or
any fee or any other anpunt (other than an anount referred to in clause
(a) of this Article) payable under this Agreenment or any other
Transacti on Docunent
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when and as the same shall beconme due and payabl e and such failure
shal | continue unrenedied for a period of five days after such due
dat e;

(c) any representation or warranty made or deermed nmade by or
on behalf of the Borrower or the Guarantor in or in connection with
this Agreenent or any other Transacti on Docunent or any anmendment or
modi fi cati on hereof or thereof, or otherwise in connection with the
Transaction, including without limtation, in any report, certificate
financial statenent or other document furnished pursuant to or in
connection with this Agreenent or any other Transaction Document or any
amendment or nodification thereof, shall prove to have been incorrect
when made or deenmed nmade

(d) the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any
covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section 5.02, 5.03 (with
respect to the Borrower's or the Guarantor's existence), 5.07 or 5.12
or in Article VI, provided, that the Borrower's failure to give any
notice required pursuant to Section 5.02(a) shall be deemed to be cured
upon Borrower's cure of the Default which gave rise to such notice
obligation;

(e) the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any
covenant, condition or agreement contained in this Agreenment (other
than those specified in clause (a), (b) or (d) of this Article), and
such failure shall continue unrenedied for a period of 30 days after
notice thereof fromthe Adm nistrative Agent (given at the request of
any Lender) to the Borrower; provided, that, if such failure cannot
reasonably be renedied within such 30 day period, such failure does not
give rise to any rights on the part of tenants under Leases to
termnate their Leases or otherw se adversely affect the value or use
of the Mortgaged Property as a commercial office building, and the
Borrower shall have comrenced to renedy such failure and shall be
diligently and expeditiously proceeding to remedy such failure, such 30
day period shall be extended for so long as it shall require the
Borrower in the exercise of due diligence to remedy such failure, but
only so long as such delay is not likely to have a Material Adverse
Ef fect;

(f) an involuntary proceeding shall be comenced or an
involuntary petition shall be filed seeking (i) liquidation
reorgani zation or other relief in respect of the Borrower or the
Guarantor, or their debts, or of a substantial part of their assets
under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency,



receivership or simlar |aw now or hereafter in effect or (ii) the
appoi ntment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator
conservator or simlar official for the Borrower or the Guarantor or
for a substantial part of their assets, and, in any such case, such
proceedi ng or petition shall continue undism ssed for 90 days or an
order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be
entered;
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(g) the Borrower or the Guarantor shall (i) voluntarily
commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking |iquidation
reorgani zation or other relief under any Federal, state or foreign
bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or simlar |aw now or hereafter in
effect, (ii) consent to the institution of, or fail to contest in a
timely and appropriate manner, any proceeding or petition described in
clause (h) of this Article, (iii) apply for or consent to the
appoi ntnent of a receiver, trustee, custodi an, sequestrator
conservator or simlar official for the Borrower or the Cuarantor or
for a substantial part of their assets, (iv) file an answer adnmitting
the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such
proceeding, (v) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors
or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the
foregoi ng;

(h) the Borrower or the Guarantor shall becone unable, admt
inwiting or fail generally to pay their debts as they becone due

(i) one or nore judgnents for the payment of noney (not paid
or fully covered by insurance other than reasonable deductibles as to
whi ch the rel evant insurance conpany has acknow edged coverage) in an
aggregate anount in excess of $500,000 shall be rendered against the
Borrower, or in excess of $5,000,000 shall be rendered against the
Guarantor, and the same shall renmin undischarged for a period of 30
consecutive days during which execution shall not be effectively
stayed, or any action shall be legally taken by a judgment creditor to
attach or levy upon any assets of the Borrower or the Guarantor to
enforce any such judgment;

(j) an ERI SA Event shall have occurred that, in the opinion of
the Required Lenders, when taken together with all other ERI SA Events
that have occurred, will result in a Material Adverse Effect

(k) any of the Transaction Documents or any material provision
of any Transaction Docunent shall be cancelled, term nated, revoked or
rescinded, or any Lien thereof shall cease or lose its priority; or the
OP CGuar antee shall be cancelled, term nated, revoked or rescinded at
any time or for any reason whatsoever or the Guarantor shall be in
default after notice, if any, and after the expiration of applicable
grace periods, if any, under the OP Cuarantee; or any assertion is nade
by or on behalf of the Borrower or the Guarantor that this Agreenent or
any ot her Transaction Docunent is not legal, valid and binding; or any
action at law, suit in equity or other |egal proceeding to nake
unenforceable, or to cancel, revoke or rescind any of the Transaction
Docunents shall be commenced by or on behalf of the Borrower or the
Guarantor, or any court or any Governmental Authority of conpetent
jurisdiction shall nake a determination that, or ensure a judgment,
order, decree or ruling to the effect that, any one or nmore of the

Transaction Docunents is illegal, invalid or unenforceable as to any
material terns thereof;
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(1) an "Event of Default" (as defined in any other Transaction
Docunent) shall occur and be continuing; or

(m a Change in Control shall occur

then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower
described in clause (f) or (g) of this Article), and at any tine thereafter
during the continuance of such event, the Adm nistrative Agent may, and at the
request of the Required Lenders shall, by notice to the Borrower, (i) declare
the Conmitnents to be terminated forthwith, whereupon the Conm tnents shal

imedi ately term nate and/or (ii) declare the Loan then outstanding to be due
and payable in whole (or in part, in which case any principal not so declared to
be due and payable may thereafter be declared to be due and payable), and

t hereupon the principal of the Loan so declared to be due and payabl e, together
with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower
accrued hereunder and under the other Transaction Docunents, shall becone due
and payabl e i nmedi ately, wi thout presentment, demand, protest or other notice of



any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower; and the Adninistrative
Agent shall, at the direction of the Required Lenders, exercise all rights and
remedi es avail abl e under the Transaction Docunents, at law or in equity,
including without limtation, foreclosure of the Mortgaged Property; and in case
of any event described in clause (f) or (g) of this Article, the Conm tnents
shal | automatically term nate and the principal of the Loan then outstanding,
together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the
Borrower accrued hereunder and under the other Transaction Docunments, shall
automatically becone due and payabl e, wi thout presentnment, demand, protest or

ot her notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower.

ARTI CLE VI I|
The Admi nistrative Agent

(a) Each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoints the
Admi nistrative Agent as its agent and authorizes the Administrative Agent to
take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to
the Administrative Agent by the terns hereof and of the other Transaction
Docunent, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental
t hereto.

(b) The bank serving as the Admi nistrative Agent hereunder and
under the other Transaction Documents shall have the same rights and powers in
its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and nmy exercise the same as though
it were not the Administrative Agent, and such bank and its Affiliates may
accept deposits from Iend noney to and generally engage in any kind of business
with the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof as if it were not the Adm nistrative
Agent hereunder and under the other Transaction Docunents.
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(c) The Admi nistrative Agent shall not have any duties or
obli gations except those expressly set forth herein. Wthout limting the
generality of the foregoing, (i) the Admi nistrative Agent shall not be subject
to any fiduciary or other inplied duties, regardl ess of whether a Default has
occurred and is continuing, (ii) the Adm nistrative Agent shall not have any
duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers,
except discretionary rights and powers expressly contenpl ated hereby and by the
other Transaction Documents that the Admi nistrative Agent is required to
exercise in witing by the Required Lenders, and (iii) except as expressly set
forth herein, the Adm nistrative Agent shall not have any duty to disclose, and
shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to the
Borrower or any of its Affiliates that is comunicated to or obtained by the
bank serving as Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity.
The Administrative Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken
by it with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders or in the
absence of its own gross negligence or wilful m sconduct. The Adm nistrative
Agent shall be deened not to have know edge of any Default unless and until
witten notice thereof is given to the Adnministrative Agent by the Borrower or a
Lender, and the Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for or have any
duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statenment, warranty or representation
made in or in connection with this Agreement or the other Transaction Docunents
(ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other docunent delivered
hereunder or in connection herewith, (iii) the performance or observance of any
of the covenants, agreements or other terns or conditions set forth herein or in
the other Transaction Docunents, (iv) the validity, enforceability,
ef fectiveness or genuineness of this Agreenent, the other Transaction Docunents
or any other agreenent, instrument or docunent, or (v) the satisfaction of any
condition set forth in Article IV or el sewhere herein, other than to confirm
receipt of itens expressly required to be delivered to the Admi nistrative Agent.

(d) The Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely upon,
and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request,
certificate, consent, statenent, instrument, document or other witing believed
by it to be genuine and to have been signed or sent by the proper Person. The
Admi ni strative Agent also may rely upon any statenment nade to it orally or by
tel ephone and believed by it to be nade by the proper Person, and shall not
incur any liability for relying thereon. The Admi nistrative Agent nmay consult
with | egal counsel (who may be counsel for the Borrower), independent
accountants and ot her experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any
action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such
counsel, accountants or experts.

(e) The Administrative Agent may performany and all its
duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through any one or nore
sub-agents appoi nted by the Admi nistrative Agent. The Administrative Agent and
any such sub-agent may performany and all its duties and exercise its rights
and powers through their respective Related Parties. The excul patory provisions
of the precedi ng paragraphs shall apply to any such sub-agent and to the Rel ated



Parties of the Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall apply to
their respective activities in
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connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as
well as activities as Administrative Agent.

(f) The Administrative Agent may resign as Adm nistrative
Agent upon thirty (30) days' notice to the Lenders and the Borrower. If the
Admi ni strative Agent shall resign as Administrative Agent under this Agreenent
and the other Transaction Documents, then the Required Lenders shall have the
right to appoint a successor after consultation with the Borrower and, if such
successor is not already a Lender, after obtaining Borrower's consent, which
consent shall not be unreasonably wi thheld. If no successor shall have been so
appoi nted by the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appoi nt nent
within 30 days after the retiring Admi nistrative Agent gives notice of its
resignation, then the retiring Adm nistrative Agent shall, on behalf of the
Lenders, appoint a successor Adm nistrative Agent which shall be a bank with an
of fice in New York, New York, or an Affiliate of any such bank. Upon the
acceptance of its appointnment as Administrative Agent hereunder by a successor,
such successor shall succeed to and becone vested with all the rights, powers,
privileges and duties of the retiring Adm nistrative Agent, and the retiring
Admi nistrative Agent shall be discharged fromits duties and obligations
hereunder. The fees payable by the Borrower to a successor Adm nistrative Agent
shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherw se agreed
bet ween the Borrower and such successor. After the Admi nistrative Agent's
resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article and Section 9.03 shall
continue in effect for its benefit in respect of any actions taken or onitted to
be taken by it while it was acting as Administrative Agent.

(g) Each Lender acknow edges that it has, independently and
wi t hout reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Lender and based on
such docunents and information as it has deened appropriate, nade its own credit
anal ysis and decision to enter into this Agreenent. Each Lender al so
acknow edges that it will, independently and wi thout reliance upon the
Admi ni strative Agent or any other Lender and based on such docunents and
information as it shall fromtime to time deem appropriate, continue to nake its
own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreenent,
any rel ated agreenent or any docunent furnished hereunder or thereunder.

(h) The Administrative Agent shall not be deened to have
knowl edge or notice of the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default unless
(i) the Adnministrative Agent has received notice froma Lender or the Borrower
describing such Default or Event of Default and stating that such notice is a
"notice of default", or (ii) the Administrative Agent has actual notice of such
Default or Event of Default. In the event that the Admi nistrative Agent receives
such a notice, the Admi nistrative Agent shall pronptly give notice thereof to
the Lenders. The Admi nistrative Agent shall take such action with respect to
such Default or Event of Default as shall be directed by the Required Lenders;
provided that unless and until the Admi nistrative Agent shall have received such
directions, the Adnministrative Agent shall take such action, or refrain from
taking such action, with respect to such Default or Event of Default as the
Adm ni strative Agent shall reasonably deem necessary to

45
45

protect and preserve the Mirtgaged Property and the Lenders' rights and renedies
under the Transaction Docunments. In no event shall the Admi nistrative Agent be
required to take any action which it determines to be contrary to law. In no
event shall the Administrative Agent be required to take any action which could
expose the Admi nistrative Agent to liability unless all of the Lenders shall
require the Administrative Agent to take such action and indemify the

Admi nistrative Agent to the Adm nistrative Agent's satisfaction in connection
with same. Each Lender agrees that it shall pronptly notify the Administrative
Agent in witing after it first has actual know edge of any Default or Event of
Defaul t. The Admi nistrative Agent shall give a copy of any such notice received
by the Administrative Agent to the other Lenders if such notice pertains to a
deci sion by the Lenders pursuant to paragraph (i) or (j).

(i) Upon the Adnministrative Agent's receipt of a notice of
default (as defined in subparagraph (h) above), the Adm nistrative Agent shall
consult with the Lenders to deternm ne a course of action which is acceptable to
the Required Lenders. Subject to Section 9.02 hereof, the Adm nistrative Agent
shal | pursue any such course of action approved by the Required Lenders in
respect of any Default or Event of Default, including, without Iimtation,
accel eration of the indebtedness, commencenent of any suit to foreclose any
security for the Loan and acquisition of title to the Mortgaged Property in
connection with such foreclosure, or the defense, settlenent or conprom se of
any clains for liens which are prior to the lien of the Mrtgage.



(j) Subject to Section 9.02 hereof, the Admi nistrative Agent
agrees to take such action as the Required Lenders shall direct in connection
with (i) the sale or other disposition of the Mrtgaged Property or other
security for the Loan, (ii) the operation, repair, preservation, inprovenent and
managenment of the Mortgaged Property if the Admi nistrative Agent or any noninee
acting on behalf of the Admi nistrative Agent and/or the Lenders acquires title
to or possession of the Mrtgaged Property in connection with the realization of
the security for the Loan, and (iii) any disposition of the Mdyrtgaged Property
after an acquisition of title to or possession of the Mrtgaged Property in
connection with the realization of the security for the Loan. Wth respect to
clause (i) above, if the Adm nistrative Agent has not been directed by the
Required Lenders within a reasonable tine period as to what action to take at
the sale of the Mdrtgaged Property, the Admi nistrative Agent shall bid at such
sal e the aggregate amount of the then outstanding bal ance of the Loan, including
principal, interest, costs, attorneys' fees and other unpaid anounts secured by
the Mortgage. Wth respect to clause (ii) above, if the Administrative Agent is
not directed by the Required Lenders within a reasonable tine period, the
Admi ni strative Agent shall take such actions as are reasonabl e and necessary for
responsi bl e operation and managenment of the Mortgaged Property.

(k) If the Mortgaged Property is foreclosed upon pursuant to
the direction of the Required Lenders, then after payment of all costs and
expenses of foreclosure and collection, the Adm nistrative Agent shall renit to
each of the Lenders such Lender's percentage of all net proceeds received by the
Adnmi ni strative Agent as a consequence of such foreclosure proceeding. If the
Admi ni strative Agent or any
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nom nee acting on behalf of the Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders acquires
the Mortgaged Property through forecl osure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or

ot herwi se, each of the Lenders shall have an undivided interest in the Mrtgaged
Property equal to such Lender's proportionate interest in the Loan,

notwi thstanding the fact that title may be taken in the name of the

Adm ni strative Agent al one.

(1) None of the Co-Agents shall have any duties or
responsi bilities hereunder in its capacity as such.

ARTI CLE | X
M scel | aneous

SECTION 9.01. Notices. Except in the case of notices and
ot her conmuni cations expressly pernmitted to be given by tel ephone, all notices
and ot her communi cations provided for herein shall be in witing and shall be
delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or
registered mail or sent by telecopy, as follows:

(a) if to the Borrower, to it at c/o Vornado Realty, L.P.,
Park 80 West, Plaza |1, Saddl e Brook, New Jersey 07633, Attention of
Chi ef Financial Officer (Telecopy No. (201) 587-0600), with a copy to
Proskauer Rose LLP, 1585 Broadway, New York, New York 10036-8299,
Attention of Lawence J. Lipson, Esq. (Tel ecopy No. 212-969-2900);

(b) if to the Administrative Agent, to The Chase Manhattan
Bank, 380 Madi son Avenue, New York, New York 10017, Attention of Fran
Nuchi ms, Vice President (Telecopy No. (212) 622-3395), with a copy to
The Chase Manhattan Bank, Legal Departnment, 270 Park Avenue, 39th
Fl oor, New York, New York 10017, Attention of Real Estate Counsel
(Tel ecopy No. (212) 270-2934) and with a copy to Sinpson Thacher &
Bartlett, 425 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York 10017, Attention of
John Forelle, Esq. (Telecopy No. (212) 455-2502); and

(c) if to any other Lender, to it at its address (or telecopy
nunber) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire.

Any party hereto may change its address or tel ecopy nunber for notices and other
communi cati ons hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto. Al notices and
ot her conmuni cations given to any party hereto in accordance with the provisions
of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given on the date of receipt.

SECTI ON 9. 02. Waivers; Anendnents. (a) No failure or delay by
the Administrative Agent or any Lender in exercising any right or power
hereunder or under the other Transaction Docunents shall operate as a waiver
thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or
any abandonnent or
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di sconti nuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or
further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights
and renmedi es of the Adm nistrative Agent and the Lenders hereunder are

curmul ative and are not exclusive of any rights or renedies that they would

ot herwi se have. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement or of any of the
ot her Transacti on Docunents or consent to any departure by the Borrower
therefrom shall in any event be effective unless the sane shall be permtted by
paragraph (b) of this Section, and then such waiver or consent shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given
Wthout limting the generality of the foregoing, the making of the Loan shal
not be construed as a waiver of any Default, regardl ess of whether the

Admi ni strative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or know edge of such
Default at the tine.

(b) Neither this Agreement nor any of the other Transaction
Documents nor any provision hereof or thereof nay be waived, amended or nodified
except pursuant to an agreenent or agreements in witing entered into by the
Borrower and the Required Lenders or by the Borrower and the Adm nistrative
Agent with the consent of the Required Lenders; provided that no such agreenent
shall (i) increase the Commitnment of any Lender w thout the witten consent of
such Lender, (ii) increase the aggregate Conmitnents of the Lenders in excess of
the total ampunt set forth on Schedule 2.01 without the witten consent of each
Lender, (iii) reduce the principal anount of the Loan or reduce the rate of
interest thereon, or reduce any fees payable hereunder, w thout the witten
consent of each Lender affected thereby, (iv) postpone the schedul ed date of
paynent of the principal amount of the Loan, or any interest thereon, or any
fees payabl e hereunder, or reduce the ampunt of, waive or excuse any such
paynent, or postpone the schedul ed date of expiration of any Conm tnent, without
the witten consent of each Lender affected thereby, (v) change Section 2.10(c)
or (d) in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of payments required
thereby, without the witten consent of each Lender, (vi) except as contenpl ated
by the terms of the Transaction Docunments, release any collateral or any
guaranty without the witten consent of each Lender, or (vii) change any of the
provisions of this Section or the definition of "Required Lenders" or any other
provi sion hereof specifying the nunber or percentage of Lenders required to
wai ve, amend or nodify any rights hereunder or make any determ nation or grant
any consent hereunder, without the witten consent of each Lender; provided
further that no such agreenent shall amend, nodify or otherw se affect the
rights or duties of the Admi nistrative Agent, wi thout the prior witten consent
of the Administrative Agent, as the case nmay be

SECTI ON 9. 03. Expenses; |Indemity; Damage Waiver. (a) The
Borrower shall pay (i) all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Administrative
Agent and its Affiliates, including the reasonable fees, charges and
di sbursements of counsel for the Administrative Agent based on tine actually
spent at rates then billed (whether in-house staff or retained firns, but
wi t hout duplication), in connection with the syndication of the credit
facilities provided for herein, the preparation of this Agreement and the other
Transaction Docunents or any amendnents, nodifications or waivers of the
provi sions hereof or thereof (whether or not the transactions
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contenpl ated hereby or thereby shall be consummated), (ii) all out-of-pocket
expenses incurred by the Adm nistrative Agent or any Lender, including the
reasonabl e fees, charges and di sbursenents of any counsel for the Administrative
Agent based on tinme actually spent at rates then billed (whether in-house staff
or retained firms, but w thout duplication) or any Lender, in connection wth
the review, preparation or negotiation of any consents or approvals of

Admini strative Agent or Lenders hereunder or of Leases or non-disturbance
agreenments or the enforcement or protection of its rights in connection with
this Agreenent and the other Transaction Docunents, including its rights under
this Section, or in connection with the Loan made hereunder, including in
connection with any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect thereof
and (iii) the cost to the Admi nistrative Agent of any reappraisals of the

Mort gaged Property to the extent required pursuant to the Financial Institutions
Ref orm and Enforcenent Act of 1989

(b) The Borrower shall indemify the Adnministrative Agent and
each Lender, and each Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (each such
Person being called an "I ndemitee") against, and hold each I ndemitee harnl ess
from any and all |osses, clains, damages, liabilities and rel ated expenses
including the fees, charges and di sbursements of any counsel for any |Indemitee
incurred by or asserted against any Indemitee arising out of, in connection
with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery by Borrower or Guarantor
of this Agreement, the other Transaction Docunents or any other agreement or
instrument contenpl ated hereby, the performance by Borrower or Guarantor of
their respective obligations hereunder or thereunder or the consunmation of the
Transaction or any other transactions contenplated hereby, (ii) the use of the
proceeds of the Loan, (iii) any actual or alleged presence or release of
Hazardous Materials on or fromthe Mrtgaged Property or any Environnenta



Liability related in any way to the Borrower in respect of the Mrtgaged
Property, (iv) any and all |awful action that may be taken by the Administrative
Agent in connection with the enforcenent of the provisions of this Agreenment or
any ot her Transaction Docunent, whether or not suit is filed in connection with
the sane, or in connection with the Borrower or Guarantor beconming a party to a
voluntary or involuntary federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or simlar
proceedi ng, (v) the past, current and/or future sale or offering for sale of
menbership interests in the Borrower, including, without linmtation, liabilities
under any applicable securities or blue sky laws, or (vi) any actual or
prospective claim litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of
the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory and

regardl ess of whether any Indemitee is a party thereto; provided that such
indemity shall not, as to any Indemitee, be available to the extent that such

| osses, clainms, danages, liabilities or related expenses resulted fromthe gross
negligence or wilful msconduct of such Indemitee. The obligations of the
Borrower under clause (iii) of this paragraph (b) shall, notw thstandi ng any

excul patory or other provisions of any nature whatsoever set forth in the
Transaction Docunents, constitute the personal recourse undertakings,
obligations and liabilities of the Borrower, but not its menbers, partners,
officers, directors or sharehol ders.
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(c) To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any anpunt
required to be paid by it to the Adm nistrative Agent, under paragraph (a) or
(b) of this Section, each Lender severally agrees to pay to the Administrative
Agent, such Lender's Applicable Percentage (determ ned as of the time that the
appl i cabl e unrei nbursed expense or indemity paynment is sought) of such unpaid
anmount; provided that the unrei mbursed expense or indemified |oss, claim
danmage, liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or
asserted against the Adm nistrative Agent in its capacity as such.

(d) To the extent permitted by applicable | aw, the Borrower
shal | not assert, and hereby waives, any claimagainst any | ndemitee, on any
theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages
(as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or
as a result of, this Agreenment or any agreenent or instrument contenpl ated
hereby, the Transaction, the Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof.

(e) The Borrower covenants and agrees that no brokerage
conmi ssion or other fee, conm ssion or conpensation is to be paid by the Lenders
or the Administrative Agent and the Borrower agrees to indemify the Lenders and
the Administrative Agent against any clains for any of the same. The Lenders
represent that they have not dealt with any brokers in connection with the
Transacti on.

(f) The Borrower and the Guarantor agree to indemify each
I ndemi t ee agai nst, and hold each Indemitee harm ess from any and all |osses,
claims, danmges, liabilities and rel ated expenses, including the reasonable
fees, charges and di sbursenments of any counsel for any Indemitee, incurred by
or asserted against any Indemitee arising out of, in connection with or as a
result of (i) any distribution, loan or paynent being nade by the Borrower to
the Guarantor or any other Person in violation of the covenants set forth in
this Agreenment, to the extent of such distribution or (ii) any w ongful
m sappropriation or diversion of any portion of the Mrtgaged Property
(including, without limtation, Rents, insurance proceeds or condemation
awards), to the extent of such wongful msappropriation. The obligations of the
Borrower and the Guarantor under this paragraph (f) shall, notw thstanding any
excul patory or other provisions of any nature whatsoever set forth in the
Transacti on Docunents, constitute the personal recourse undertakings,
obligations and liabilities of the Borrower and the Guarantor.

(g) Al ampunts due under this Section shall be payable
pronptly after witten demand therefor and, until reinbursed by the Borrower
and, in the case of paragraph (f), the Guarantor, pursuant hereto, shall be
deemed additional principal of the Loan and shall bear interest at the Default
Rat e.

SECTI ON 9. 04. Successors and Assigns. (a) The provisions of
this Agreenent shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors and assigns permtted hereby, except that
the Borrower may not assign or otherwi se transfer any of its rights or
obl i gations hereunder without the
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prior witten consent of each Lender (and any attenpted assignnent or transfer
by the Borrower without such consent shall be null and void). Nothing in this
Agreenent, expressed or inplied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person
(other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns



permitted hereby and, to the extent expressly contenpl ated hereby, the Rel ated
Parties of each of the Admi nistrative Agent and the Lenders) any |egal or
equi table right, renmedy or claimunder or by reason of this Agreenent

(b) Any Lender may assign to one or nore assignees all or a
portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a
portion of its Commitnment and the portion of the Loan at the tine owing to it)
provided that (i) except in the case of an assignnent to a Lender or an
Affiliate of a Lender, each of the Borrower and the Adm nistrative Agent nust
give their prior witten consent to such assignnment (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld), (ii) except in the case of an assignment to a Lender or
an Affiliate of a Lender or an assignnent of the entire remaining anount of the
assi gning Lender's Conmitnment, the anmpunt of the Commitnment of the assigning
Lender subject to each such assignment (determ ned as of the date the Assignnment
and Acceptance with respect to such assignnent is delivered to the
Admi ni strative Agent) shall not be | ess than $5, 000,000 unl ess each of the
Borrower and the Admi nistrative Agent otherw se consent, (iii) each partial
assi gnnent shall be made as an assignnment of a proportionate part of all the
assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreenent, (iv) the parties
to each assignnment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an
Assi gnnent and Acceptance, together with a processing and recordation fee of
$3,500, and (v) the assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the
Adm ni strative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire; provided further that any
consent of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent otherw se required under
this paragraph shall not be required if an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing. Upon acceptance and recording pursuant to paragraph (d) of this
Section, fromand after the effective date specified in each Assignnent and
Accept ance, the assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent
of the interest assigned by such Assignnment and Acceptance, have the rights and
obligations of a Lender under this Agreenent, and the assigning Lender
thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and
Accept ance, be released fromits obligations under this Agreenment (and, in the
case of an Assignnent and Acceptance covering all of the assigning Lender's
rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a
party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.07
2.08, 2.09 and 9.03). Any assignnent or transfer by a Lender of rights or
obligations under this Agreement that does not conply with this paragraph shal
be treated for purposes of this Agreenent as a sale by such Lender of a
participation in such rights and obligations in accordance w th paragraph (e) of
this Section

(c) The Adm nistrative Agent, acting for this purpose as an
agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices in The City of New
York a copy of each Assignnent and Acceptance delivered to it and a register for
the recordation of the nanes and addresses of the Lenders, and the Comnit nment
of, and principal anpunt of
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the Loan owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof fromtime to time
(the "Register"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, and the
Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders mmy treat each Person whose
name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the ternms hereof as a Lender
hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the
contrary.

(d) Upon its receipt of a duly conpleted Assi gnnent and
Accept ance executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee's
conpl eted Admi nistrative Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a
Lender hereunder), the processing and recordation fee referred to in paragraph
(b) of this Section and any witten consent to such assignnent required by
paragraph (b) of this Section, the Adm nistrative Agent shall accept such
Assi gnnent and Acceptance and record the information contained therein in the
Regi ster. No assignnent shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless
it has been recorded in the Register as provided in this paragraph

(e) Any Lender may, w thout the consent of the Borrower or the
Admi ni strative Agent, sell participations to one or nore banks or other entities
(a "Participant") in all or a portion of such Lender's rights and obligations
under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Conmitment and the
portion of the Loan owing to it); provided that (i) such Lender's obligations
under this Agreenment shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain
solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such
obligations and (iii) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the other
Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in
connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement. Any
agreenment or instrunent pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation
shal | provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this
Agreenent and to approve any anendnent, nodification or waiver of any provision
of this Agreenment; provided that such agreenent or instrunent may provide that
such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any



amendnment, nodification or waiver described in the first proviso to Section
9.02(b) that affects such Participant. Subject to paragraph (f) of this Section
the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of
Sections 2.07, 2.08 and 2.09 to the sane extent as if it were a Lender and had
acquired its interest by assignnment pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section

(f) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater
paynent under Section 2.07 or 2.09 than the applicable Lender woul d have been
entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant
unl ess the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the
Borrower's prior witten consent. A Participant that would be a Foreign Lender
if it were a Lender shall not be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.09 unless
the Borrower is notified of the participation sold to such Participant and such
Partici pant agrees, for the benefit of the Borrower, to conply with Section
2.09(e) as though it were a Lender
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(g) Any Lender nmay at any tine pledge or assign a security
interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreenent to secure
obl i gations of such Lender, including any such pledge or assignnent to a Federa
Reserve Bank, and this Section shall not apply to any such pledge or assignnent
of a security interest; provided that no such pledge or assignment of a security
interest shall release a Lender fromany of its obligations hereunder or
substitute any such assignee for such Lender as a party hereto

SECTION 9. 05. Survival. Al covenants, agreenents
representations and warranties made by the Borrower herein and the other
Transaction Docunents, including without Ilinmtation, in the certificates or
other instrunents delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreenent or
any ot her Transaction Docunent shall be considered to have been relied upon by
the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of this
Agreenent and the making of the Loan, regardl ess of any investigation made by
any such other party or on its behalf and notw thstanding that the
Admi nistrative Agent or any Lender nmay have had notice or know edge of any
Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is
ext ended hereunder, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as the
principal of or any accrued interest on the Loan or any fee or any other anpunt
payabl e under this Agreenent or any other Transacti on Docunent is outstanding
and unpaid and so long as the Conmitnents have not expired or term nated. The
provi sions of Sections 2.07, 2.08, 2.09 and 9.03 and Article VIII shall survive
and renain in full force and effect regardl ess of the consummation of the
Transaction, the repaynent of the Loan, the expiration or term nation of the
Commi tments, the term nation of this Agreenent or any provision hereof or the
foreclosure of the Mirtgage, sale of the Mrtgaged Property pursuant to the
provisions of the Mdrtgage or acceptance by the Admi nistrative Agent, its
nom nee or affiliate, of a deed or assignment in lieu of foreclosure; provided
however, that the provisions of Sections 2.09 and 9.03(a) shall only survive and
remain in full force and effect until the date which is 120 days after repaynent
of the Loan

SECTI ON 9. 06. Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness. This
Agreenment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on
di fferent counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of
whi ch when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreenment and
any separate letter agreenments with respect to fees payable to the
Admi ni strative Agent constitute the entire contract anong the parties relating
to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreenents and
under st andi ngs, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. This
Agreenent shall becone effective when it shall have been executed by the
Admi ni strative Agent and when the Administrative Agent shall have received
counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of
the other parties hereto, and the Loan shall have been funded pursuant to the
ternms of this Agreenent, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns
Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by
tel ecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of
this Agreenent.
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SECTI ON 9. 07. Severability. Any provision of this Agreenment
held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to
such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality

or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability
of the remining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision
in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other
jurisdiction

SECTION 9.08. Right of Setoff. If an Event of Default shal



have occurred and be continuing, each Lender is hereby authorized at any tine
and fromtine to tinme, to the fullest extent permtted by law, to set off and
apply any and all deposits (general or special, tinme or demand, provisional or
final, but excluding tenant security deposits) at any tine held and ot her

i ndebt edness at any time owi ng by such Lender to or for the credit or the
account of the Borrower against any of and all the obligations of the Borrower
now or hereafter existing under this Agreenent held by such Lender, irrespective
of whether or not such Lender shall have nmade any demand under this Agreenent
and al t hough such obligations may be unmatured. The rights of each Lender under
this Section are in addition to other rights and remedi es (including other
rights of setoff) which such Lender may have.

SECTI ON 9. 09. Governing Law, Jurisdiction; Consent to Service
of Process. (a) This Agreenent and the other Transacti on Docunents shall be
construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of New York.

(b) The Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally
submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the
Suprerme Court of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the
United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any
appel l ate court fromany thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or
relating to this Agreenment, or for recognition or enforcenment of any judgnent,
and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees
that all clainms in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and
determ ned in such New York State or, to the extent permtted by law, in such
Federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any
such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other
jurisdictions by suit on the judgnent or in any other nmanner provided by |aw
Nothing in this Agreenent shall affect any right that the Adm nistrative Agent
or any Lender nmay otherw se have to bring any action or proceeding relating to
this Agreenent against the Borrower or its properties in the courts of any
jurisdiction.

(c) The Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally
wai ves, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any
objection which it may now or hereafter have to the |l aying of venue of any suit,
action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreenent in any court
referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of the parties hereto hereby
irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permtted by |law, the defense of an
inconvenient forumto the mmintenance of such action or proceeding in any such
court.
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(d) Each party to this Agreement irrevocably agrees that
service of process may be effected by mailing a copy thereof by registered or
certified mail (or any substantially simlar formof mil), postage prepaid, to
the Borrower at its address set forth in Section 9.01 or at such other address
of which the Administrative Agent shall have been notified pursuant thereto.
Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of any party to this Agreenent
to serve process in any other manner permitted by |aw.

SECTI ON 9. 10. WAI VER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY
WAI VES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERM TTED BY APPLI CABLE LAW ANY RIGHT | T MAY HAVE
TO A TRIAL BY JURY I N ANY LEGAL PROCEEDI NG DI RECTLY OR | NDI RECTLY ARI SI NG QUT OF
OR RELATI NG TO THI' S AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTI ON CONTEMPLATED HEREBY ( WHETHER
BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTI FI ES
THAT NO REPRESENTATI VE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED,
EXPRESSLY OR OTHERW SE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, | N THE EVENT COF
LI TI GATI ON, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGO NG WAI VER AND (B) ACKNOALEDGES THAT I T
AND THE OTHER PARTI ES HERETO HAVE BEEN | NDUCED TO ENTER | NTO THI S AGREEMENT BY,
AMONG OTHER THI NGS, THE MJUTUAL WAI VERS AND CERTI FI CATIONS I N THI S SECTI ON.

SECTION 9. 11. Headings. Article and Section headi ngs and the
Tabl e of Contents used herein are for conveni ence of reference only, are not
part of this Agreenent and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken
into consideration in interpreting, this Agreenent.

SECTION 9.12. Confidentiality. Each of the Adm nistrative
Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information
(as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) toits and its
Affiliates' directors, officers, enployees and agents, including accountants,
| egal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom
such disclosure is made will be inforned of the confidential nature of such
Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the
extent requested by any regulatory authority, (c) to the extent required by
applicable | aws or regulations or by any subpoena or simlar |egal process, (d)
to any other party to this Agreenent, (e) in connection with the exercise of any
remedi es hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreenent
or the enforcenment of rights hereunder, (f) subject to an agreenment containing
provi sions substantially the same as those of this Section, to any assignee of



or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its
rights or obligations under this Agreenent, (g) with the consent of the Borrower
or (h) to the extent such Information (i) becones publicly avail able other than
as a result of a breach of this Section or (ii) becomes available to the

Admi ni strative Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis froma source

other than the Borrower. For the purposes of this Section, "Information" nmeans
all information received fromthe
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Borrower relating to the Borrower or its business, other than any such
information that is available to the Admi nistrative Agent or any Lender on a
nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Borrower; provided that, in the
case of information, other than property information, received fromthe Borrower
after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the tine of
delivery as confidential. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of
Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have conplied
with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of
care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person woul d
accord to its own confidential infornation.

SECTION 9.13. Interest Rate Limtation. Notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary, if at any time the interest rate applicable to
the Loan, together with all fees, charges and other amounts which are treated as
interest on such Loan under applicable law (collectively the "Charges"), shall
exceed the nmaxi mum |l awful rate (the "Maxi num Rate") which may be contracted for
charged, taken, received or reserved by the Lender holding a portion of the Loan
in accordance with applicable law, the rate of interest payable in respect of
the Loan hereunder, together with all Charges payable in respect thereof, shal
be limted to the Maxi num Rate and, to the extent lawful, the interest and
Charges that would have been payable in respect of such Loan but were not
payabl e as a result of the operation of this Section shall be cunulated and the
interest and Charges payable to such Lender in respect of other Loan or periods
shal | be increased (but not above the Maxinum Rate therefor) until such
cunul ated anount, together with interest thereon at the Federal Funds Effective
Rate to the date of repaynent, shall have been received by such Lender

SECTI ON 9. 14. Rel ationshi p; Reasonabl eness. (a) The
rel ati onship of the Lenders and the Adm nistrative Agent to the Borrower
hereunder and under any other Transaction Document or otherwise with respect to
the Loan and the Transaction is strictly and solely that of |ender and borrower
and nortgagor and nortgagee and, if applicable, swap counterparties, and nothing
contained in this Agreenent, the Transaction Docunents or any other docunent or
instrument now or hereafter executed and delivered in connection therewith or
ot herwi se in connection with the Loan secured hereby is intended to create, or
shall in any event or under any circunstance be construed as creating, a
partnership, joint venture, tenancy-in-conmon, joint tenancy or other
rel ati onshi p of any nature whatsoever between the Lenders and the Administrative
Agent to the Borrower other than as |ender and borrower and nortgagor and
nortgagee and, if applicable, swap counterparties

(b) If at any time the Borrower believes that the Lenders or
the Admi nistrative Agent has not acted reasonably in granting or withhol ding any
approval or consent under this Agreenent or any other Transaction Docunents or
otherwise with respect to the Loan, as to which approval or consent either the
Lenders or the Administrative Agent has expressly agreed to act reasonably, or
absent such agreenent, a court of |law having jurisdiction over the subject
matter would require the Administrative Agent to act reasonably, then the
Borrower's sole renedy shall be to
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seek injunctive relief or specific performance and no action for nonetary
damages or punitive damages shall in any event or under any circunstance be
mai ntai ned by the Borrower against the Lenders or the Administrative Agent.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contai ned herein
or in any other Transaction Docunent, neither the Administrative Agent nor any
Lender shall have any obligation to grant their consent or approval to any
matter, where such consent or approval may otherw se be required not to be
unreasonably withheld, at any time an Event of Default or a material Default
shal | have occurred and be continuing

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, there
shall not be any restriction hereunder as to the Persons to which all or any
portion of the Loan may be participated or assigned or as to the amount of any
portion of the Loan which may be participated or assigned, at any tine an Event
of Default or a material Default shall have occurred and be continuing

(e) Any rights of the Borrower hereunder or under any other



Transaction Document to grant its approval or consent to any matter shall be of
no force or effect at any tine a Default shall have occurred and be continuing

SECTI ON 9. 15. Conflicts and Inconsistencies. In the event of
any conflict or inconsistency between the respective terns, provisions
covenants and conditions set forth in the Transacti on Docunents, such ternmns,
provi sions, covenants and conditions shall be construed to supplenment and
conpl enent each other, and Borrower shall be bound by the nore stringent or
expansive terms, provisions, covenants and conditions

SECTI ON 9. 16. Excul pation. There shall be no linmitation on the
Borrower's personal liability under the Loan to the extent of $105, 000, 000
whi ch portion of the Loan shall be fully recourse against the assets of the
Borrower (the "Recourse Liability"); provided however, such Recourse Liability
shall not be recourse to the assets of the nenbers of the Borrower, and provided
further that such Recourse Liability shall be reduced to the extent (i) one or
nore guaranties of payment of a portion of the Loan fromindividuals or entities
which are direct or indirect nenmbers of the Borrower have been received by the
Lenders and remain in full force and effect, and (ii) the ambunt of any
reduction in the outstanding principal balance of the Loan. The Lenders agree to
accept any such guaranties that are so delivered. Except for the Recourse
Liability and any guaranties thereof, and except as provided belowin this
Section, the liability and obligation of the Borrower for the performance of the
obligations contained in the Transaction Docunents and the payment of the Note
and any other fee, charge or other anmpunt which may becone due in accordance
with the provisions of the Note, this Agreenent and the other Transaction
Docunents shall not be enforced by any action or proceedi ng wherei n damages or
any noney judgnment or any deficiency judgnent or any judgnent establishing any
personal obligation or liability shall be sought, collected or otherw se
obt ai ned agai nst the Borrower or against any past, present or future nenber,
partner, officer, director or sharehol der of
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the Borrower, and each Lender and the Administrative Agent for itself and its
successors and assigns irrevocably waives any and all right to sue for, seek or
demand any such danages, noney judgnent, deficiency judgment or persona
judgnent agai nst the Borrower or against any past, present or future nenber
partner, officer, director or sharehol der of the Borrower under or by reason of
or in connection with the Transacti on Docunents and agrees to | ook solely to the
security and coll ateral held under or in connection with the Transaction
Documents for the enforcenment of such liability and obligation of the Borrower.
Not hi ng contained in this Section 9.16 shall be construed (i) as preventing the
Adnmi ni strative Agent or any Lender from nam ng the Borrower or any past, present
or future nenber, partner, officer, director or sharehol der of the Borrower in
any action or proceeding brought by the Administrative Agent or any Lender to
enforce and to realize upon the security and collateral provided under or in
connection with the Transacti on Docunents so |ong as no judgnent, order, decree
or other relief in the nature of a personal or deficiency judgnent or otherw se
establ i shing any personal obligation shall be asked for, taken, entered or
enforced against the Borrower or against any past, present or future nenber
partner, officer, director or shareholder of the Borrower, in any such action or
proceedi ng, except to the extent of the Recourse Liability as provided in the
first sentence of this Section 9.16, (ii) as nodifying, qualifying or affecting
in any manner whatsoever the lien and security interests created by Mrtgage and
the other Transaction Docunents or the enforcement thereof by the Administrative
Agent or any Lender, (iii) as nodifying, qualifying or affecting in any manner
what soever the personal recourse undertakings, obligations and liabilities of
any person, party or entity under any guaranty of paynment, conpletion guaranty
ot her guaranty or indemification agreenment now or hereafter executed and
delivered to the Adnmi nistrative Agent in connection with the Transaction
Docunents or in connection with the Loan including, without limtation, the
personal recourse obligations and liabilities of the Guarantor under the OP
Guarantee or (iv) as nodifying, qualifying or affecting in any manner what soever
the personal recourse liability of the Borrower or any past, present or future
menber, partner, officer, director or sharehol der of the Borrower or any other
person, party or entity for fraud, m sappropriation of assets of Borrower or
willful msrepresentation or any undertaking, obligation or liability under any
Transaction Document which is specifically set forth therein as a persona
recourse undertaking, liability or obligation of such Person (including, wthout
limtation, the obligations of the Borrower under Section 9.03(b)(iii) and the
Borrower and the Guarantor under Section 9.03(f)).
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I'N W TNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this
Agreenent to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the
day and year first above witten.
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ONE PENN PLAZA, LLC,

By: Vornado Realty L.P.,
sol e menber

By: Vornado Realty Trust,
sol e general partner

By:

THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, as

Admi ni strative Agent, Arranger and Lender

BANK AUSTRI A AKTI ENGESELLSCHAFT, as

Co- Agent and Lender

By: /s/ Peter W Wod

Name: Peter W Wod
Title: Vice President

By: /s/ Andre K. W Dobrowsky

Nane: Andre K. W Dobrowsky

Title: Assistant Vice President

BANK AUSTRI A, AG

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTI A, as Co- Agent

and Lender

By: /s/ Barbara J. Brown

Name: Barbara J. Brown

Title: Sr. Relationship Manager

BAYERI SCHE LANDESBANK, CAYMAN

| SLANDS BRANCH, as Co- Agent and Lender

By: /s/ Peter Obernann

Narme: Peter Cbermann
Title: Senior Vice President

By: /s/ John Win

Name: John Wain
Title: Vice President

SOC|I ETE GENERALE, SOUTHWEST
AGENCY, as Co- Agent and Lender

By: /s/ S. J. Silver

Nane: S. J. Silver
Title: Managing Director

WESTDEUTSCHE | MMOBI LI EN BANK, as Co-

Agent and Lender

By: /s/ Claus J. Cohausz

Name: Claus J. Cohausz
Title: Senior Vice President

By: /s/ Andreas Morchat
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Name: Andreas Morchat
Title: Vice President

THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as Lender

By: /s/ Maria D. Kastanis

Name: Maria D. Kastanis
Title: Vice President

KBC BANK, N.V., as Lender

By: /s/ Tod R Angus

Name: Tod R Angus
Title: Vice President

By: /s/ Robert Snauffer

Name: Robert Snauffer
Title: Vice President
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LANDESBANK- HESSEN THURI NGEN
G ROZENTRALE, NEW YORK BRANCH,
Lender

By: /s/ Robert W Becker

as
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Nane: Robert W Becker
Title: Vice President

By: /s/ Mchael A Pierro

Name: M chael A. Pierro

Title: Assistant Vice President

CHASE SECURITIES, INC., as Arranger

By: /s/ Janes Rolison

Vi ce President

The undersi gned hereby executes this Agreenent solely for the
purpose of agreeing to be bound by the provisions of Section 9.03(f) hereof.

VORNADO REALTY L. P.

By: Vornado Realty Trust,
sol e general partner

By: /s/ Irwin Goldberg

Narme: |rwi n Col dberg

Title: Vice President
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Section 3: EX-27 (FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULE)
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This schedul e contains summary financial information extracted fr
Conpany's unaudited statements for the six nonths ended June 30,
qualified by reference to such financial statenents.

omthe
1998 and is



- TYPE>
- YEAR- END>
- END>

- ASSETS>
&E>

- ASSETS>
-LI ABI LI TI ES>

- MVANDATORY>

- SE>
- LI ABI LI TY- AND- EQUI TY>

- REVENUES>

- COSTS>
- EXPENSES>
- PROVI SI ON\>
- EXPENSE>
- PRETAX>
- TAX>
- CONTI NUI NG

- | NCOVE>
- PRI MARY>
- DI LUTED>
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6- MOS

DEC- 31- 1998
JUN- 30- 1998
257,584
46, 737
25,608
1,690

0

0
2,796,728
195, 557
3, 983, 536
0

1, 809, 112
281, 320
281, 320
3,333
1,477,151
3, 983,536
0

218,734

0

85, 607
37,412

0

46, 502
67, 803

0

67, 803

0

0

0

56, 958
.74

.72



